
 

 
May 08, 2023 Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, May 08, 2023 at 7:00 PM 
Pre- Meeting at  6:00 PM 

Council Chamber | 1953 Municipal Way  

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

PRAYER 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

MINUTES APPROVAL 

A. 04-24-2023 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting 

B. 05-04-2023 Minutes - Work Session City Council 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

MAYOR BRAKEFIELD COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS 

C. National Police Week Proclamation 

COUNCIL REPORTS 

AGENDA ITEMS 

 *  Public Hearing on these Items ** Set Public Hearing on these Items 

1. Resolution 050823 Authorizing Addendum to Video Services Agreement - AT&T Alabama to 
DIRECTV LLC 

Authorizing the Mayor to sign an updated agreement, formally with AT&T transferring to 
DIRECTTV, LLC. 

2. Resolution 050823-A Creating Field Training Officer Pay Program for the Alabaster Police 
Department 

Authorizing request to approve FTO (Field Training Officer) pay to equal 2 additional 
regular hours of pay for each 12 hour shift the FTO has a new recruit (certified or non-
certified) in the car for training. 

3. Resolution 050823-B MWPP Annual Report 

Approval for the Municipal Water Pollution Prevention (MWPP) - Annual Report for 2023- 
Due to ADEM May 31, 2023. 

4. Resolution 050823-C Authorizing Professional Services Contract with Engineers of the South 
- Sand Filters Upgrade WWTP 

Authorizing a Professional Services Contract with Engineers of the South for the 
replacement and upgrade of the existing sand filters at the Alabaster WWTP in an 
amount not to exceed $260,000. 

5. Resolution 050823-D Authorizing Agreement with InSite Engineering LLC - Main WWTP 
Influent Screen Replacement and Grit System Update 

Page 1



 

 
May 08, 2023 Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 

Authorizing an agreement with InSite Engineering relating to the replacement of the 
influent screen and grit system at the Waste Water Treatment Plant in the amount not to 
exceed $159,300. 

6. Resolution 050823-E Authorizing Purchase of Police Department Vehicle Purchase 

Authorizing purchase request from Police Chief Curtis Rigney to purchase one (1) 2023 
Chevrolet 2500 4WD PU Truck for the Alabaster Police Department in the amount of 
$49,381.50 and update the FY23 Budget to reflect said purchase.. 

7. Resolution 050823-F Authorize Property Acquisition for Trail to Thompson High School 

Authorizing the Mayor to sign documentation necessary to facilitate purchase of property 
for connection of trail system between Thompson High School and Municipal Park in a 
amount not to exceed $14,000. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Please step to the podium and state your name and address for the record. 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

WORK SESSION SCHEDULED FOR MAY 18, 2023 AT 6:00 PM. 

ADJOURN MEETING 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council meetings should 
notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting by: 

Calling Office Number: 205-664-6800  
Or Visit: http://cityofalabaster.com/397/Americans-with-Disabilities-Act 

 

Page 2

http://cityofalabaster.com/397/Americans-with-Disabilities-Act


Book 75, Pg. -10- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 4/24/2023 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 Council Chamber | 1953 Municipal Way 
 Alabaster, AL 

 
April 24, 2023 

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order at 6:05 PM and the Council organized for the Regular City Council 
Meeting which started at 7:00 PM with Council President Sophie Martin presiding. 

PRAYER - Guest Brandon Matthews 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

PRESENT 
Council Member - Ward 1 Sophie Martin 
Council Member - Ward 2 Rick Ellis 
Council Member - Ward 3 Stacy Rakestraw 
Council Member - Ward 4 Greg Farrell 
Council Member - Ward 5 Jamie Cole 
Council Member - Ward 6 Zach Zahariadis 
Council Member - Ward 7 Kerri Pate 

MINUTES APPROVAL 

A. 04-10-2023 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting 

B. 04-20-2023 Minutes - Work Session City Council 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 
Rakestraw. Minutes approved. 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis. 
Agenda approved. 
 

MAYOR BRAKEFIELD COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS 

C. Teen Council Induction Ceremony 

Mayor Brakefield swore in the 2023-2024 Alabaster Teen Council for the City of Alabaster and 
thanked Karen Fillingim and Brandon Matthews for their diligent work in making this program 
successful. 

D. Alabaster Citizens Academy Certificate Presentations 

Mayor Brakefield presented graduation certificates to the inaugural members of the Alabaster 
Citizens Academy. 

E. Proclamation - Professional Municipal Clerks Week 2023 

Mayor Brakefield presented Proclamations to City Clerk Mark Frey and Deputy City Clerk Lisa 
Glasgow. 

Page 3

Item #A.



Book 75, Pg. -11- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 4/24/2023 

COUNCIL REPORTS 

F. Library Monthly Report - March 2023 - Council Member Rick Ellis 

G. Public Works Monthly Report - March 2023 - Council Member Stacy Rakestraw 

H. AFD Monthly Report - March 2023 - Council Member Greg Farrell 

I. APD Monthly Activity Report - March 2023 - Council Member Zach Zahariadis 

J. Engineering - Building Monthly Report - March 2023 - Council Member Kerri Pate 

AGENDA ITEMS 

 *  Public Hearing on these Items ** Set Public Hearing on these Items 

1. Resolution 042423 BOE Appointment Place 2 

Appointment of Kristalyn Lee to Place 2 of the Alabaster School Board with a term expiring 
June 2028. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 5 Cole, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 
Rakestraw. Motion carried. 

2. Resolution 042423-A Authorizing Agreement with Engineers of the South 

Authorizing an Agreement for Engineering Services for a new Belt Press and Renovations 
to the Solids Handling Building located at the WWTP at a cost not to exceed $253,500. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 
2 Ellis. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, 
Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member 
- Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Motion carried. 

3. Resolution 042423-B Streetlight Approval for Mallard Landing Subdivision Phase 3 

Authorizing Agreement with Alabama Power for 8 streetlights within the Mallard Landing 
Subdivision Phase 3 at a cost estimate of $110.80 per month. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 4 Farrell. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 
Ellis, Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council 
Member - Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Motion carried. 

4. Resolution 042423-C Declaring Items within Various Departments as Surplus 

Declaring surplus items within various departments within the City of Alabaster. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 5 
Cole. Motion carried. 

5. Resolution 042423-D Authorizing a Professional Services Agreement with Poole and Co 
Architects - WWTP Renovation Design 

Authorizing a Professional Services Contract with Poole and Co Architects in the amount 
of $32,000 for the design work for remolding of the of the Power Trip Building and the 
current WWTP Admin office. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 6 
Zahariadis. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, 
Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member 

Page 4

Item #A.



Book 75, Pg. -12- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 4/24/2023 

- Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Motion carried. 

6. Resolution 042423-E Authorizing Funding for 2023 Gone Fishin Not Just Wishin Event 

Approving a request to support the Exceptional Anglers event, Gone Fishin’, Not Just 
Wishin’, at Oak Mountain State Park on May 10-12, 2023 in the amount of $3,000. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 7 Pate, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 5 
Cole. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, Council 
Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member - Ward 
5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. Motion 
carried. 

7. Resolution 042423-F Enter Agreement Musco Sports Lighting LLC for Larry Simmons Stadium 
Lighting Equipment 

Authorizing an agreement with Musco Sports Lighting for new lighting for Larry Simmons 
Stadium in the amount of $158,640.00. (Sourcewell Purchasing Cooperative Contract 
Number 071619-MSL) 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 7 Pate. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 
Ellis, Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council 
Member - Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Motion carried. 

8. Resolution 042423-G Awarding Bid for Renovation of Larry Simmons Stadium 

Awarding the bid for the renovation of Larry Simmons Stadium to Clements Dean Building 
Company in the amount of $4,693,220. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Seconded by Council Member - 
Ward 5 Cole. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 
Ellis, Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council 
Member - Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 
Pate. Motion carried. 

9. Resolution 042423-H Awarding Bid for Alabaster Boulevard Paving Project 

Awarding the bid for Alabaster Boulevard Paving Remediation to Massey Asphalt Paving, 
LLC. for the Alabaster Boulevard Repaving project in the amount of $7,051,382.50. 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 
2 Ellis. Voting Yea: Council Member - Ward 1 Martin, Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis, 
Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Council Member 
- Ward 5 Cole, Council Member - Ward 6 Zahariadis, Council Member - Ward 7 Pate. 
Motion carried. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Rick Ellis - Congratulations to the new Alabaster Teen Council. 

Stacy Rakestraw - Thank you to everyone who participated in the Citizens Academy. 

Jamie Cole - Congratulations to his son Sully and all of the new Teen Council. He also 
expressed his appreciation for everyone who participated in the Citizens Academy, Mark 
Frey and Lisa Glasgow. 

Page 5

Item #A.



Book 75, Pg. -13- 

 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 4/24/2023 

Zach Zahariadis - Thanked City Clerk, Mark Frey, Deputy Clerk, Lisa Glasgow and all 
Department Heads for their work in making the City successful. 

Kerri Pate - Thanked APD and the IT Department for providing the blocked train crossing 
notifications. 

Sophie Martin - Welcomed the new Teen Council and thanked al of the graduates for 
the Citizens Academy. She also thanked the Mayor and Council for their support of all of 
the large Alabaster Fast Forward Projects that were approved tonight. 

WORK SESSION SCHEDULED FOR MAY 4, 2023, AT 6:00 PM. 

ADJOURN MEETING 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 4 Farrell, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw. 
Meeting adjourned at 7:39 PM. 
 

 
________________________________  ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk    Sophie Martin, Council President 

 

Page 6

Item #A.



 

 
Work Session City Council Minutes 5/4/2023 

 

MINUTES OF THE WORK SESSION CITY COUNCIL 

 Council Chambers | 1953 Municipal Way 
 Alabaster, AL 

 
May 04, 2023 

CALL TO ORDER 

City Council assembled for a Work Session and the meeting was called to order at 6:02 PM with 
Council President Sophie Martin presiding. 

ROLL CALL 
Sophie Martin, Rick Ellis, Stacy Rakestraw, Greg Farrell, Jamie Cole, Zach Zahariadis, Kerri Pate 

PRESENT 
Council Member - Ward 2 Rick Ellis 
Council Member - Ward 3 Stacy Rakestraw 
Council Member - Ward 4 Greg Farrell 
Council Member - Ward 5 Jamie Cole 
Council Member - Ward 7 Kerri Pate 
 
ABSENT 
Council Member - Ward 1 Sophie Martin 
Council Member - Ward 6 Zach Zahariadis 
 

AGENDA ITEMS:  

1. Resolution 050823-E Authorizing Purchase of 2023 Chevy 2500 PU Truck 4WD for APD 

REVIEW: Request from Police Chief Curtis Rigney to purchase one (1) 2023 Chevrolet 
2500 4WD PU Truck for the Alabaster Police Department in the amount of $49,381.50. 
(Resolution 050823-E Authorizing Purchase of Police Department Vehicle Purchase) 
Added to Monday’s agenda. 

2. Creation of FTO (Field Training Officer) Pay 

Request to approve FTO (Field Training Officer) pay to equal 2 additional regular hours 
of pay for each 12 hour shift the FTO has a new recruit (certified or non-certified) in the 
car for training. (Resolution 050823-A Creating Field Training Officer Pay Program for 
the Alabaster Police Department) Added to Monday’s agenda. 

3. Review Proposed Ward Map from the Redistricting Committee 

Review recommended new Ward Map as proposed by the Redistricting Committee. This 
item will be placed on the first Work Session in June. 

4. Addendum to Video Services Agreement - AT&T to DIRECTTV 

Review updated agreement formally with AT&T transferring to DIRECTTV, LLC. 
(Resolution 050823 Authorizing Addendum to Video Services Agreement - AT&T 
Alabama to DIRECTV LLC) Added to Monday’s agenda. 

5. Bar Screen and Grit Removal System Upgrade 

Review agreement with InSite relating to the replacement of the influent screen and grit 
system at the Waste Water Treatment Plant. (Resolution 050823-D Authorizing 

Page 7

Item #B.



 

 
Work Session City Council Minutes 5/4/2023 

Agreement with InSite Engineering LLC - Main WWTP Influent Screen Replacement and 
Grit System Update) Added to Monday’s agenda. 

6. Review: Professional Services Contract with Engineers of the South - Sand Filters Upgrade 
WWTP 

Review: Professional Services contract with Engineers of the South for the replacement 
and upgrade of the existing sand filters at the Alabaster WWTP (Resolution 050823-C 
Authorizing Professional Services Contract with Engineers of the South - Sand Filters 
Upgrade WWTP) Added to Monday’s agenda. 

7. 2023 Environmental Services yearly MWPP report to ADEM 

Approval for the Municipal Water Pollution Prevention (MWPP) - Annual Report - Due to 
ADEM May 31, 2023. (Resolution 050823-B MWPP Annual Report) Added to Monday’s 
agenda. 

8. Appointing Alabaster Downtown Redevelopment Board Members - Discussion 

Review potential members of the new Alabaster Downtown Redevelopment Authority. 
This item will be placed on the first Work Session in June. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Council Member - Ward 3 Rakestraw, Seconded by Council Member - Ward 2 Ellis. 
Meeting adjourned at 7:34 PM. 
 

 

________________________________   ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk     Sophie Martin, Council President 

 

Page 8

Item #B.



Page 9

Item #C.



Council Member __________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was seconded by 
Council Member ________________. 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 050823 
 

AUTHORIZING ADDENDUM TO VIDEO SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, has determined that it is both 
wise and expedient to authorize an addendum to the Video Services Agreement originally entered on 
November 26, 2013, but allows for extension upon written mutual request of the parties; and 

 
WHEREAS, on or about July 31, 2021, BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T 

Alabama (“AT&T Alabama”) completed the transfer of its interest in the Video Services Agreement 
(“Agreement”) with the City regarding the provision of the U-verse IPTV video service to an affiliate, 
DIRECTV; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and DIRECTV now desire to extend the term of the Agreement through 

December 31, 2027, and agree that there is sufficient mutual consideration for renewing and 
extending the term of the Agreement attached (Exhibit A). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, does hereby 
authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster and J. Mark Frey, City Clerk, to sign, attest 
and file all documentation necessary to enter into said agreement. 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
 
APPROVED 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

Item #1.



 
Exhibit A - Resolution 050823 

 
ADDENDUM TO VIDEO SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
THIS ADDENDUM TO VIDEO SERVICES AGREEMENT ("Addendum") is made on this __8th__day 
of__May_, 2023, by and between DIRECTV, LLC (“DIRECTV”) and the City of Alabaster, Alabama 
(“City"). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS on or about July 31, 2021, BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Alabama 
(“AT&T Alabama”) completed the transfer of its interest in the Video Services Agreement 
(“Agreement”) with the City regarding the provision of the U-verse IPTV video service to an affiliate, 
DIRECTV; and 
 
 WHEREAS the initial Agreement with the City was entered on November 26, 2013 for a term 
expiring December 31, 2023, but allows for extending the Agreement upon written mutual request 
of the parties; and 
 
 WHEREAS the City and DIRECTV now desire to extend the term of the Agreement through 
December 31, 2027, and agree that there is sufficient mutual consideration for renewing and 
extending the term of the Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS DIRECTV and the City of Alabaster desire to make one other 
modification to the terms of the Agreement, which is fully set forth herein below and 
agree that there is sufficient mutual consideration for renewing and extending the term 
of the Agreement through December 31, 2027. 
 

AGREEMENTS 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and in the 
original Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, DIRECTV and the City of Alabaster agree as follows: 
 
  1. Paragraph 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended and acknowledged to read 
  as follows: 
 

Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from the Effective Date of 
this Agreement through December 31, 2027. The term may be 
extended upon mutual agreement of the parties in writing. 
 

2. The "Notices" paragraph of the Agreement is amended by changing the address for 
AT&T Alabama to the following: 

 
    DIRECTV 
    Legal/External Affairs 
    2260 E. Imperial Hwy. 
    El Segundo, CA 90245 
 
    e-mail: scott.alexander@directv.com 
 

3. Unless amended by the terms of this Addendum, all other terms and conditions of 
the Agreement, shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect throughout the 
extended term. In the event the terms and conditions of the Agreement conflict with 
the terms of this Addendum, this Addendum shall be deemed to supersede and 
override the terms of the Agreement. 

 
  4. This Addendum incorporates and includes all prior and contemporaneous 

negotiations, correspondence, conversations, agreements and understandings 
between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof. No deviation from the 
terms hereof shall be predicated upon any prior or contemporaneous representations, 
agreements or understanding, whether oral or written.  

 
Page 11

Item #1.

mailto:scott.alexander@directv.com


 
Exhibit A - Resolution 050823 

  
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, DIRECTV and the City of Alabaster have caused this Addendum to be 
duly executed on their behalf by their duly authorized representative, as of the date first above 
written. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Signature page immediately follows) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

Item #1.



 
Exhibit A - Resolution 050823 

 
 
 
 
DIRECTV, LLC (DIRECTV) 
 
Printed Name: Scott J. Alexander 
 
Title: Senior Director, External Affairs 
 
Signature: ______________________________ 
 
Date: ____________________________________ 
 
 
 
City of Alabaster Alabama 
 
 
Printed Name: ____________________________ 
 
Title: ______________________________________ 
 
Signature: __________________________________ 
 
Date: _______________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST 
 
Name: _______________________________________ 
 
Title: _________________________________________ 
 
Date:_________________________________________ 

Page 13

Item #1.



Council Member __________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was 
seconded by Council Member ________________. 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION 050823-A 

 
AUTHORIZING CREATION OF FIELD TRAINING OFFICER PAY 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Civil Service Act for the City of Alabaster, Alabama the City 

Council must adopt any modifications to job classifications and pay grade assignments; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have determined 
that it is both wise and expedient to authorize FTO Pay equal two (2) additional regular hours of 
pay for each twelve (12) hour shift the FTO has a new recruit (certified or non-certified) in the car 
for training; and 
  

WHEREAS, this resolution authorizes FTO Pay for officers that are providing new recruits 
with vital Officer In Training (OIT) to ensure a firm foundation in the job required of them within 
the Police Department of the City of Alabaster; and 

 
WHEREAS, the cost for this program is based on additional pay for each new officer hired 

for training as follows: 
 

 Non-certified Officer – 16-week program  

 Certified Officer - 12-week program  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, does 
hereby authorize the Human Resources Director to create the FTO Pay and reflect this 
classification plan within the pay grade assignments for the City of Alabaster Police Department. 
 

      Y / N         Y / N  
Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______   Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______   Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 
 

 

PASSED, ADOPTED, AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
ATTEST:                                                         CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________                  __________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 

Page 14

Item #2.



Council Member ______________________ introduced the following Resolution with 
Motion to approve, which was seconded by Council Member __________________. 

    
 

 
 

RESOLUTION 050823-B 
 

A RESOLUTION TO SUBMIT THE MUNICIPAL WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION  
(MWPP) PROGRAM 2023 ANNUAL REPORT 

  
 
NOW COMES, the City Council of the City of Alabaster, a municipal entity, desires to allow 
the Director of Engineering, Building, & Environmental Services to submit the MWPP 
annual report.  
 
After due consideration with appropriate motion being made and seconded the following 
Resolution is adopted: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ALABASTER, 
ALABAMA THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF ALABASTER INFORMS THE DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT THAT THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS WERE TAKEN BY THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA. 
 
 
1. Reviewed the MWPP Annual Report, which is attached to this Resolution 050823-

B. 
 
2. Set forth the following actions and schedule necessary to maintain effluent 

requirements contained in the NPDES Permit, and to prevent the bypass and 
overflow of raw sewage within the collection system or at the treatment plant: 

 
(a) Continue the Ongoing infiltration and inflow remediation program. 

 
(b) Continue the evaluating options for operational modifications and minor 

improvements to ensure compliance with the NPDES Permit. 
 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
      
ATTEST:              CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
________________________________                 _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk                                               Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 
 

Page 15

Item #3.



Resolution 050823-B Exhibit A 

 

Page 16

Item #3.



Council Member __________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was seconded by 
Council Member ________________. 

 
RESOLUTION 050823-C 

 
AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH ENGINEERS OF THE SOUTH FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES 

IMPROVING EXISTING EQUIPMENT AND INCREASING THE CAPACITY OF THE FILTRATION 
EQUIPMENT AT THE WASTE WATER TREATMENT PLANT 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have determined 

that it is both wise and expedient to enter into said contractual agreement with Engineers of the 
South for Engineering Services related to Improvements to Existing Equipment and Increasing the 
Capacity of the Filtration Equipment for the city’s Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP); and 
 

WHEREAS, the project will improve the reliability, capacity and efficiency of the tertiary 
filtration process operations at the WWTP, and 
 

WHEREAS, the amount of this service agreement will not to exceed $260,000.  This has been 
approved as part of the City’s 2023 Capital Improvement Plan for Environmental Services, and 

 
WHEREAS, the project improvements will generally include: 
 
• Replacing the existing sand filters with disk filters 
• Installing the new disk filters inside the existing concrete structures of the sand filters 
• Increasing capacity of the existing sand Filter #1 (old side = currently rated at 3.0 mgd) to match the 
capacity of the existing sand Filter #2 (new side = currently rated at 4.6 mgd). The goal is to provide 
redundant trains of equal capacity. Each disk filter will be sized for a peak flow of 14 mgd (28 mgd peak 
flow total). 
• Provide hydraulic review of existing pipe from the existing Clarifiers #1 and #2 to the existing 
Filter #1. If necessary, recommend replacement of the pipe as needed to increase the flow 
capacity through Filter #1 to meet the desired capacity. 
• Review the condition of the effluent launders and weirs in Clarifiers #1 and #2. Recommend and 
include replacement, if needed. 
• Review the feasibility of adding rapid mix and flocculation within the existing filter structure(s) to 
improve the chemical mixing and filter performance. Provide guidance, recommendations and design 
of these features, if desired. 
• Electrical upgrades or improvements as required to service the project. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. The City Council authorizes the Mayor to enter into an agreement with Engineers of the 
South for the Solids Handling Building Improvements at a cost not to exceed $260,000. 

 
2. That the City Clerk is authorized and directed to attest any related, and necessary 

documents on behalf of the City for said purchases.  
 

      Y / N         Y / N  
Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______    Zach Zahariadis  ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______    Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
_______________________________ ______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 
 

Page 17

Item #4.



 
Exhibit A.  Resolution 050823-C 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18

Item #4.



 
Exhibit A.  Resolution 050823-C 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 19

Item #4.



Council Member __________________ introduced the following Resolution, which was seconded by 
Council Member ________________. 

 

 
RESOLUTION 050823-D 

 
A RESOLUTION TO ENTER INTO A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

WITH INSITE ENGINEERING LLC 
FOR MAIN WWTP INFLUENT SCREEN REPLACEMENT AND GRIT SYSTEM UPDATE 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama, have determined 

that it is both wise and expedient to enter a professional services agreement with InSite Engineering, 
LLC for Main Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) Influent Screen Replacement and Grit System 
Update; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Work will include necessary field verification and surveying of site Civil, 

Electrical, and Structural Bid plans and specifications in coordination with survey data for 25 MGD 
Screen and Replacement Grit System Parts Replacement; and 

 
WHEREAS, said project will include bidding and contracting period services, Construction 

Administration with resident observation and inspection services.; and 
 
WHEREAS, Contract #3 will include the following: 

 

 A Lump Sum amount of   $1,500   Field Verification Measurements and Levels 

 A Lump Sum amount of   $64,800  Civil / Mechanical Design, Specifications, and Permits 

 A Lump Sum amount of   $20,500  Electrical Design / Specifications 

 A Lump Sum amount of   $16,500  Structural Design / Permit 

 A Lump Sum amount of  $4,000   Bidding and Contracting Period Services. 

 An hourly amount (Est)   $48,500  Construction Administration & Inspection Services 
                                            For up to 120 Days (4 months of Construction) 

 Reimb Expenses (Cost Plus 15%)  $3,500   Reimbursables: Printing, Plotting, Mileage, Etc. 

 
Total Contract Amount  $159,300 

 
and; 
 
WHEREAS, Agreement will not exceed $159,300 (see attached Exhibit “A”) and will be paid 

from the Sewer Fund. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Alabaster, does hereby 
authorize Scott Brakefield, Mayor of the City of Alabaster and J. Mark Frey, City Clerk, to sign, attest 
and file all documentation necessary to enter into said contract. 
 
      Y / N         Y / N  

Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______    Zach Zahariadis  ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______    Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 20

Item #5.



 
Resolution 050823-D   Exhibit A  

 

 
Page 21

Item #5.



 
Resolution 050823-D   Exhibit A  

 

 
Page 22

Item #5.



 
Resolution 050823-D   Exhibit A  

 
 
 

Page 23

Item #5.



Council Member _____________________ introduced the following Resolution, which 
was seconded by Council Member ____________________. 
 

 
RESOLUTION 050823-E 

 
ALABASTER POLICE DEPARTMENT VEHICLE PURCHASE – STATE BID LIST 

  
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to provide adequate and efficient 
equipment for our Police Department to enable them to serve our citizens, and  
         
 WHEREAS, the Police Department has the opportunity to purchase a vehicle and  
 
 WHEREAS, the requested purchase of a vehicle was not included in the FY23 
budget and will require a budget adjustment, and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Police Department vehicle will be purchased from the State of 
Alabama Bid List, State Contract Number T191 (Donohoo Chevrolet) and will be paid from 
the General Fund. 
 

Item         Cost 
2025 Chevrolet 2500 4WD Pickup Truck (Donohoo)   $49,381.50 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. The Police Department be allowed to purchase one (1) 2023 Chevrolet 2500 4WD 

Pickup Truck off the State Bid List at a cost of $49,381.50.  
 

2. That the Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and directed to execute any related, and 
necessary documents on behalf of the City for said purchases.  
 

      Y / N         Y / N  
Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______   Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______   Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER 
 
 
_______________________________ ______________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor  

Page 24

Item #6.



Council Member ______________________ introduced the following Resolution, which 
was seconded by Council Member __________________. 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION 050823-F 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY FOR THE CITY OF 
ALABASTER TRAIL TO THOMPSON HIGH SCHOOL PROJECT 

 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Alabaster, Alabama to 

provide our citizens with safe walking trails to encourage outdoor activities and city 
walkability, and 

 
WHEREAS, the city is developing and installing a 10FT Wide Asphalt Trail and 

Sidewalk Project that will connect Thompson High School to Municipal Park to Thompson 
Middle School, and 

 
WHEREAS, the development of the new trail will require the purchase of a small 

piece of property located at the rear boundary of 152 Kentwood Drive, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Alabaster has determined that it is both 

wise and expedient to authorize the Mayor to sign all documentation necessary to 
purchase property for the trail construction. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Alabaster, 
Alabama as follows: 

 
1. The City Council of the City of Alabaster does hereby authorize Scott Brakefield, 

Mayor of the City of Alabaster to sign and Mark Frey, City Clerk, to attest and file 
all documentation necessary to finalize the purchase. 

2. The City Council authorizes payment to property owner, Luke Short, the appraised 
value plus the funds to construct a privacy fence to the trail, not to exceed 
$14,000. 

      Y / N         Y / N  
Sophie Martin  ______   Jamie Cole  ______  
Rick Ellis  ______   Zach Zahariadis ______ 
Stacy Rakestraw ______   Kerri Pate  ______ 
Greg Farrell  ______ 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 8TH DAY OF MAY 2023. 
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF ALABASTER, ALABAMA 
 
 
____________________________  ___________________________________ 
J. Mark Frey, City Clerk   Sophie Martin, Council President 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Scott Brakefield, Mayor 

Page 25

Item #7.



FA-1 (Rev.10/20) 

REAL PROPERTY APPRAISAL REPORT 

Prepared for 

The City of Alabaster 

By 

Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS (Senior Managing Director 
with IRR-Birmingham) 

880 Montclair Road, Suite 275 

Birmingham, AL 35213 

Region, Area Alabaster

Project Number TAPBH-TA22(939)

Tract Number 1

County Shelby

CPMS Number NA

Property Owner(s)                Luke Short

Address of Owner(s) 152 Kentwood Drive, Alabaster, AL 35007

Property Address 152 Kentwood Drive, Alabaster, AL 35007

Contact Person Luke Short

Telephone Number 205.270.0534

Original Date of 
Report 

8/8/22 Revised Date of 
Report 

Effective Date 
of the Appraisal

7/28/22

Please Note:  

The client is the City of Alabaster. This report is intended for use by the client and Tillman Consulting, LLC and was developed 

with consideration of the City of Alabaster’s assignment requirements.  This report is not intended for any other use or user 

not specifically described herein. 

The Uniform Act (*) and Title 79, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 24 set the requirements for appraisal and appraisal 

review in support of Federal and Federally-assisted acquisition(s) of real property for government projects.  This appraisal 

has been prepared in accordance with these requirements which are intended to be consistent with the Uniform 

Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP).  In accordance with 49 CFR-§24.103(b); the appraiser, in developing 

the fair market value of a property before a proposed acquisition, is instructed to disregard any decrease or increase in 

the market value of the real property caused by the project for which the property is to be acquired, or by the likelihood 

that the property would be acquired for the project, other than that due to physical deterioration within the reasonable 

control of the owner.  Additionally, the appraiser is instructed to value any remainder property as if the planned project 

is complete as of the effective date of appraisal.  These instructions are legal requirements which can be construed to 

create hypothetical conditions as defined in USPAP Standards Rule 1-2(g) and are noted herein in accordance with USPAP 

Standards Rule 2-2(a)(xiii).   

(*) Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended.

Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) 

This appraisal report was developed in substantial compliance with Standards Rule-1 of USPAP. 

It is being reported as an “Appraisal Report” in accordance with Rule 2-2 of the USPAP.

Appraiser Comments:     None 

Page 26

Item #7.



FA-2 (Rev. 10/20) 

August 8, 2022 

Mr. Fred Hawkins 

Director of Engineering, Building and Environmental Services 

City of Alabaster 

1953 Municipal Way 

Alabaster, AL 35007 

Project Number: TAPBH-TA22(939)

Tract Number: 1

County: Shelby

In compliance with your request for an appraisal of the subject Right-of-Way tract, I personally inspected the subject 

property and searched the market for comparable market data.  Contact with the owner was by the following (indicated) 

option. 

The owner was contacted / given the opportunity to inspect the property with me on 7/21/22 (certified letter)

The owner designated a representative to meet with me; that person was contacted NA

The owner’s representative is identified as NA

The property was inspected on 7/28/22

Those inspecting the subject property with me were Tyler Powell (Director with IRR-Birmingham)

A certified letter was mailed on 7/21/22 and a copy of the certified letter is included in the Addenda.  

___X__ A certified letter was sent to the owner. Mr. Powell spoke to Luke Short on 7/21/22 around 4:30 pm. Mr. Short 
gave us permission to inspect the property. Mr. Short advised us to access the rear of his homesite from the adjoining 
city park to the east.  

Attached is my report containing supporting market and site data or referencing a Master File for the market data content.   

My opinion of the fair market value of the referenced tract is stated below as of ___7/28/22____ 

Fair Market Value Before the Acquisition: $66,600

Fair Market Value After the Acquisition: $55,800

Fair Market Value of the Acquisition: $10,800

This report does not employ the use of a Master File for data common to other appraisals for the referenced project.   A 

project Master File, when used, is to be considered a part of the Addenda of each report wherein it is referenced. 

                                                                                   Respectively submitted, 

_____________ ________________ 

Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS 

State Certified General Real Property Appraiser 

Alabama License Number ___G00901____ 

Enclosures 

Page 27

Item #7.



FA-3: (Rev. 10/20)

APPRAISAL REPORT SUMMARY 

OWNER Luke Short PROJECT NO. TAPBH-TA22(939)

ADDRESS 152 Kentwood Drive COUNTY Shelby

CITY / STATE Alabaster, AL 35007 TRACT NO. 1

APPRAISED  AREA  BEFORE APPRAISED  AREA  AFTER AREA  TO  BE  ACQUIRED 
0.74 Ac 0.62 Ac 0.12 Ac

VALUE BEFORE THE TAKING   VALUE AFTER THE TAKING 
Land Value $66,600 Land Value $55,800

Improvement Value $0 Improvement Value $0

Total Value $66,600 Total Value $55,800

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN BEFORE AND AFTER VALUES $10,800

VALUATION DETAILS OF PORTION TO BE ACQUIRED 
1.  Land   

Acquired Area 0.12 @ $90,000 Per Ac = $10,800

P.D.E. Area @ Per Ac = 

2.  Improvements on Land to be Acquired 

  Item  Description              Value                  

$

TOTAL VALUE OF THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE ACQUIRED $

3. Temporary Construction Easement(s) & Damages to Remaining Property 

T.C.E. Area Ac @ Per Ac = 

4. Specific Benefits to Remaining Property 

$

Total Benefits $

5. Damages Less Benefits 

Net To Remainder $

6. Sum of Above Values 

TOTAL VALUE OF PORTION ACQUIRED $10,800 As of (Eff. 
Date)

7/28/22 

7. Remarks: See addenda for extraordinary assumptions and/or hypothetical conditions that affect the analysis, opinions and 

conclusions found in this report.

Page 28

Item #7.



ASSIGNMENT DETAILS AND Project No. TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-4 (Rev. 10/20)

TRACT SPECIFIC DATA Tract No. 1

Purpose of Appraisal: The purpose of the appraisal is to form an opinion of fair market value of the subject real property 

both before and after the acquisition of, all or a portion of, property by the Alabama Department of Transportation for 

State highway use, taking into consideration the legally compensable damages and/or enhancement resulting from the 

taking as determined by the laws of the State of Alabama. 

Scope of Work:  (To be developed jointly by the client and appraiser.) 

General Scope Statement: In properly preparing this ‘provided’ form appraisal report, the appraiser is expected to:   1) Develop a 

working knowledge of the subject market area and to be familiar with current property values based on a review and analysis of recent 

comparable sales activity which is to be documented in this report or in his/her master file.  2) Personally inspect the appraised 

property, the highway map and construction plans depicting the proposed acquisition.  3) Provide an adequate Appraiser scope of 

work statement which explains the assignment, addresses the extent of the inspection, the extent of the neighborhood & proposed 

project area analysis, the extent of the property inspection and the level of detail of the description of the physical characteristics of 

the property being appraised as well as the remaining property.  4) Report his/her analysis, opinions and conclusions in the most 

current ALDOT form appraisal report.  The proper preparation of this form appraisal report will satisfy the definition of “appraisal” in 

the specific rule requirements in §24.103(a)2 and §24.103(b).  Per the engagement letter: partial acquisition of land beyond 

the fence to the rear of the property. If a full appraisal is needed in the future a new fee will be negotiated.

The subject consists of 0.74± acres along Kentwood Drive in Alabaster, AL. We appraised the land, based upon the 

Before and After. While there is a single-family residence on site, the scope of this assignment is for a partial 

appraisal which considers the land only in this case. To our knowledge, there are no improvements situated within 

the acquisition area. 

Property Rights Appraised: Fee Interest (All leases and other encumbrances should be noted in the report) 

We have appraised the fee simple interest in the property.

Definition of Fair Market Value:  The price the property would bring when offered for sale by a willing seller 

who is not forced to sell and which is sought by a willing buyer who is not required to buy, after due 

consideration of all elements affecting value.  (Code of Alabama §18-1A-172) 

5-year Sales and/or Listings History 

Grantor Grantee Date Instrument Consideration Verification 

Kathy M. Savage 
and Jerry G. 

Savage 

Luke Short 11/19/09 20091124000436000 $179,000 Owner/Deed 

Per our research, the property (including the land and residence) sold for $179,000 on 11/19/09. It was 
originally listed for $194,900 and reduced to $184,900, with 179 days on the market. We have included the 
deed and MLS information in the addenda for reference. 

Tax Assessment Data: 

County Tax ID No. 23-2-10-3-002-009.000 Annual Taxes $1,082.16

County Appraised Value Land: $55,000
Building: $145,350

Total: $200,350

Assessed Value $20,040

Zoning: R-3, Single-Family Residential District Flood 
Hazard:

Zone X-Outside floodplain; (See 
Flood Map in Addenda) 

Page 29

Item #7.



Utilities         Available/Connected                                Available/Connected                            Available/Connected 

Electricity: X X Public Sewer: X X Public Water: X X

Natural Gas: X X Septic System: Well Water:

Telephone: X X Cable: X

Other: 

Description of any On-Site Septic/ Water System(s):  (Capacities, areas, depths, equipment, piping, adequacies, etc.) 

We are unaware of any septic systems or live wells on site. 

Project Description/Purpose/Benefit to the Public 

The project is reportedly an expansion of walking trails/recreation for the Alabaster Municipal Park. The benefits of the 

project include additional activities the park offers in a wooded setting. The park currently offers basketball courts, 

tennis courts, soccer fields, pavilions with picnic tables, and restrooms. 

Page 30

Item #7.



MARKET AREA ANALYSIS Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-5 (Rev. 10/20)

Tract No.: 1

 (Provide current analysis or reference a Master File: Attach additional pages if needed) 

MSA DATA: Birmingham MSA 

Economic Analysis 

Birmingham MSA Area Analysis 

The subject is located in the Birmingham-Hoover, AL Metropolitan Statistical Area, hereinafter called the Birmingham 

MSA, as defined by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget. The Birmingham MSA is 4,488 square miles in size, and 

ranks 50 in population out of the nation’s 384 metropolitan statistical areas. 

Population 

The Birmingham MSA has an estimated 2022 population of 1,120,659, which represents an average annual 0.5% 

increase over the 2010 census of 1,061,024. The Birmingham MSA added an average of 4,970 residents per year over 

the 2010-2022 period, and its annual growth rate is similar to that of the State of Alabama. 

Looking forward, the Birmingham MSA's population is projected to increase at a 0.8% annual rate from 2022-2027, 

equivalent to the addition of an average of 9,533 residents per year.  The Birmingham MSA growth rate is expected to 

be similar to that of Alabama. 

Employment 

Total employment in the Birmingham MSA was estimated at 550,200 jobs at year-end 2021. Between year-end 2011 and 

2021, employment rose by 44,700 jobs, equivalent to an 8.8% increase over the entire period. There were gains in 

employment in nine out of the past ten years. Consistent with national trends, there were losses in 2020, with the onset 

of the COVID-19 pandemic, followed by a return to positive growth in 2021. The Birmingham MSA's rate of employment 

growth over the last decade surpassed that of Alabama, which experienced an increase in employment of 8.7% or 

165,600 jobs over this period. 

A comparison of unemployment rates is another way of gauging an area’s economic health.  Over the past decade, the 

Birmingham MSA unemployment rate has been consistently lower than that of Alabama, with an average 

unemployment rate of 5.3% in comparison to a 5.9% rate for Alabama.  A lower unemployment rate is a positive 

indicator. 

Recent data shows that the Birmingham MSA unemployment rate is 2.6% in comparison to a 2.8% rate for Alabama, a 

positive sign that is consistent with the fact that the Birmingham MSA has outperformed Alabama in the rate of job 

growth over the past two years. 

Population Compound Ann. % Chng

2010 Census 2022 Estimate 2027 Projection 2010 - 2022 2022 - 2027

Alabama 4,779,736 5,055,746 5,267,486 0.5% 0.8%

Birmingham-Hoover, AL MSA 1,061,024 1,120,659 1,168,322 0.5% 0.8%

Shelby County 195,085 230,546 245,863 1.4% 1.3%

Source: Claritas

Population Trends

Employment Trends

Total Employment (Year End) Unemployment Rate (Ann. Avg.)

Year

Birmingham 

MSA

% 

Change Alabama

% 

Change

Birmingham 

MSA Alabama

2011 505,500 1,904,600 8.7% 9.6%

2012 511,800 1.2% 1,926,200 1.1% 7.2% 8.2%

2013 520,000 1.6% 1,947,200 1.1% 6.4% 7.3%

2014 523,000 0.6% 1,974,000 1.4% 5.9% 6.8%

2015 528,500 1.1% 2,000,100 1.3% 5.5% 6.1%

2016 531,200 0.5% 2,016,100 0.8% 5.5% 5.9%

2017 538,300 1.3% 2,037,100 1.0% 4.2% 4.6%

2018 547,200 1.7% 2,071,600 1.7% 3.5% 3.9%

2019 552,000 0.9% 2,096,500 1.2% 2.8% 3.0%

2020 530,600 -3.9% 2,021,800 -3.6% 5.5% 5.9%

2021 550,200 3.7% 2,070,200 2.4% 3.0% 3.2%

Overall  Change 2011-2021 44,700 8.8% 165,600 8.7%

Avg Unemp. Rate 2011-2021 5.3% 5.9%

Unemployment Rate - December 2021 2.6% 2.8%

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and Moody's Analytics. Employment figures are from the Current Employment Survey (CES). Unemployment 

rates are from the Current Population Survey (CPS). The figures are not seasonally adjusted.

Page 31

Item #7.



Employment Sectors 

The composition of the Birmingham MSA job market is depicted in the following chart, along with that of Alabama. Total 

employment for both areas is broken down by major employment sector, and the sectors are ranked from largest to 

smallest based on the percentage of Birmingham MSA jobs in each category. 

The Birmingham MSA has greater concentrations than Alabama in the following employment sectors: 

1. Trade; Transportation; and Utilities, representing 20.2% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 

19.3% for Alabama as a whole. This sector includes jobs in retail trade, wholesale trade, trucking, warehousing, 

and electric, gas, and water utilities. 

2. Education and Health Services, representing 14.0% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 11.9% 

for Alabama as a whole. This sector includes employment in public and private schools, colleges, hospitals, and 

social service agencies. 

3. Professional and Business Services, representing 13.7% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 

12.3% for Alabama as a whole. This sector includes legal, accounting, and engineering firms, as well as 

management of holding companies. 

4. Financial Activities, representing 7.7% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 4.7% for Alabama 

as a whole. Banking, insurance, and investment firms are included in this sector, as are real estate owners, 

managers, and brokers. 

The Birmingham MSA is underrepresented in the following sectors: 

1. Government, representing 15.7% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 18.8% for Alabama as a 

whole. This sector includes employment in local, state, and federal government agencies. 

2. Leisure and Hospitality, representing 9.0% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 9.4% for 

Alabama as a whole. This sector includes employment in hotels, restaurants, recreation facilities, and arts and 

cultural institutions. 

3. Manufacturing, representing 7.0% of Birmingham MSA payroll employment compared to 13.0% for Alabama as 

a whole. This sector includes all establishments engaged in the manufacturing of durable and nondurable goods.  

Employment Sectors - 2021

20.2%

15.7%

14.0%

13.7%

9.0%

7.7%

7.0%

5.9%

5.3%

1.5%

19.3%

18.8%

11.9%

12.3%

9.4%

4.7%

13.0%

5.0%

4.4%

1.0%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

Trade;  Transportation; and Utilities

Government

Education and Health Services

Professional and Business Services

Leisure and Hospitality

Financial Activities

Manufacturing

Mining & Construction

Other Services

Information

Birmingham MSA Alabama

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and Moody's Analytics

Page 32

Item #7.



Major Employers 

Major employers in the Birmingham MSA are shown in the following table. 

Gross Domestic Product 

The Birmingham MSA ranks 54 in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) out of the nation’s 384 metropolitan statistical areas. 

Economic growth, as measured by annual changes in GDP, has been slightly lower in the Birmingham MSA than Alabama 

overall during the past ten years. The Birmingham MSA has grown at a 0.4% average annual rate while Alabama has 

grown at a 0.5% rate. The metro area appears to be harder hit in the recent downturn, as the Birmingham MSA's GDP 

declined by 4.4% in 2020 while Alabama's GDP declined by 3.2%. GDP figures for 2021 are not yet available at the local 

level, but GDP on a national level increased 5.7% in 2021, in contrast to the pandemic-related decrease of 3.4% in 2020. 

The Birmingham MSA has a per capita GDP of $49,239, which is 26% greater than Alabama's GDP of $39,187. This means 

that Birmingham MSA industries and employers are adding relatively more value to the economy than their 

counterparts in Alabama. 

Household Income 

The Birmingham MSA has a higher level of household income than Alabama. Median household income for the 

Birmingham MSA is $64,452, which is 13.6% greater than the corresponding figure for Alabama.  

The following chart shows the distribution of households across twelve income levels. The Birmingham MSA has a 

greater concentration of households in the higher income levels than Alabama. Specifically, 44% of Birmingham MSA 

households are at the $75,000 or greater levels in household income as compared to 38% of Alabama households. A 

lesser concentration of households is apparent in the lower income levels, as 27% of Birmingham MSA households are 

below the $35,000 level in household income versus 32% of Alabama households. 

Name Number of Employees

1 University of Alabama at Birmingham 23,000

2 Regions Financial  Corporation 9,000

3 St. Vincent's Health System 5,100

4 Children's of Alabama 5,000

5 AT&T 4,517

6 Brookwood Baptist Health 4,459

7 Jefferson County Board of Education 4,400

8 City of Birmingham 4,200

9 Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Alabama 3,100

10 Alabama Power Company 3,092

Major Employers - Birmingham-Hoover, AL MSA

Source: Birmingham Business Alliance

Gross Domestic Product

Year

($,000s)

Birmingham MSA % Change

($,000s)

Alabama % Change

2011 52,072,432 187,605,800

2012 53,135,280 2.0% 189,245,500 0.9%

2013 52,814,350 -0.6% 191,369,800 1.1%

2014 52,644,183 -0.3% 189,886,300 -0.8%

2015 53,310,062 1.3% 191,335,200 0.8%

2016 53,838,609 1.0% 194,283,800 1.5%

2017 54,816,779 1.8% 197,566,600 1.7%

2018 55,820,835 1.8% 200,800,900 1.6%

2019 56,234,852 0.7% 203,383,900 1.3%

2020 53,764,592 -4.4% 196,906,100 -3.2%

Compound % Chg (2011-2020) 0.4% 0.5%

GDP Per Capita 2020 $49,239 $39,187

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis and Moody's Analytics; data released December 2021. The release of state 

and local GDP data has a longer lag time than national data. The data represents inflation-adjusted ""real"" GDP stated 

in 2012 dollars.

Median

Birmingham-Hoover, AL MSA $64,452

Alabama $56,724

Comparison of Birmingham-Hoover, AL MSA to Alabama + 13.6%

Source: Claritas

Median Household Income - 2022

Page 33

Item #7.



Education and Age 

Residents of the Birmingham MSA have a higher level of educational attainment than those of Alabama. An estimated 

32% of Birmingham MSA residents are college graduates with four-year degrees, versus 26% of Alabama residents. 

People in the Birmingham MSA are slightly younger than their Alabama counterparts. The median age for the 

Birmingham MSA is 39 years, while the median age for Alabama is 40 years. 

Conclusion 

The Birmingham MSA economy will benefit from a growing population base and higher income and education levels. 

The Birmingham MSA experienced growth in the number of jobs and has maintained a consistently lower 

unemployment rate than Alabama over the past decade. Moreover, the Birmingham MSA generates a higher level of 

GDP per capita than Alabama overall. It is anticipated that the Birmingham MSA economy will improve and employment 

will grow, strengthening the demand for real estate. 

Household Income Distribution - 2022

12.5%

10.2%

9.2%

13.0%

16.9%

11.7%

8.7%

6.1%

5.7%

2.7%

2.4%

1.0%

11.0%

8.3%

8.1%

12.4%

16.6%

11.9%

9.3%

7.1%

6.8%

3.3%

3.4%

1.7%

0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 12.0% 14.0% 16.0% 18.0%

Less than $15,000

$15,000 - $24,999

$25,000 - $34,999

$35,000 - $49,999

$50,000 - $74,999

$75,000 - $99,999

$100,000 - $124,999

$125,000 - $149,999

$150,000 - $199,999

$200,000 - $249,999

$250,000 - 499,999

$500,000 and more

Birmingham-Hoover, AL MSA Alabama

Source: Claritas

Page 34

Item #7.



Neighborhood Data, Land Use and Development Trends: 

Location 

The subject tracts are located along Kentwood Drive in the Kentwood subdivision in Alabaster, AL.

Access and Linkages 

Primary highway access to the area is via Highway 119, which traverses through Alabaster, and situated one mile east of 
the subject. Access to Highway 31 is approximately 3 miles to the northeast, and access to Interstate 65 (Exit 238) is 
approximately 4 miles to the northeast. 

Demographics 

A demographic profile of the surrounding area, including population, households, and income data, is presented in the 
following table. 

As shown above, the current population within a 3-mile radius of the subject is 28,497, and the average household size 

is 2.9. Population in the area has grown since the 2010 census, and this trend is projected to continue over the next five 

years. Compared to the Birmingham MSA overall, the population within a 3-mile radius is projected to grow at a faster 

rate. 

Median household income is $75,168, which is higher than the household income for the Birmingham MSA. Residents 

within a 3-mile radius have a higher level of educational attainment than those of the Birmingham MSA, while median 

owner occupied home values are lower. 

Land Use 

The area is suburban in in character. The Alabaster area and general location of the subject property is located 
approximately 25 miles south of the Birmingham CBD. 

The subject is located within the Kentwood subdivision in Alabaster. This subdivision began in the early 1990’s. The last 
known home to be constructed in this development was in 2003. Most recently or since early 2021, home prices have 
ranged from $250,000-$360,000. 

Outlook and Conclusions 

The area is in the relatively stable stage of its life cycle. We anticipate that property values will remain relatively stable in 
the future. 

Surrounding Area Demographics

2022 Estimates 1-Mile Radius 3-Mile Radius 5-Mile Radius

Birmingham-

Hoover, AL MSA Alabama

Population 2010 6,094 24,514 51,107 1,061,024 4,779,736

Population 2022 7,235 28,497 60,116 1,120,659 5,055,746

Population 2027 7,758 30,365 64,103 1,168,322 5,267,486

Compound % Change 2010-2022 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 0.5% 0.5%

Compound % Change 2022-2027 1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 0.8% 0.8%

Households 2010 2,094 8,558 18,315 415,353 1,883,791

Households 2022 2,406 9,863 21,396 439,453 2,004,199

Households 2027 2,560 10,489 22,778 458,500 2,092,417

Compound % Change 2010-2022 1.2% 1.2% 1.3% 0.5% 0.5%

Compound % Change 2022-2027 1.2% 1.2% 1.3% 0.9% 0.9%

Median Household Income 2022 $78,198 $75,168 $81,187 $64,452 $56,724

Average Household Size 3.0 2.9 2.8 2.5 2.5

College Graduate % 33% 34% 38% 32% 26%

Median Age 37 39 39 39 40

Owner Occupied % 83% 87% 87% 71% 70%

Renter Occupied % 17% 13% 13% 29% 30%

Median Owner Occupied Housing Value $202,364 $205,267 $214,782 $219,224 $181,137

Median Year Structure Built 1994 1995 1997 1983 1985

Average Travel Time to Work in Minutes 37 36 35 30 28

Source: Claritas

Page 35

Item #7.



MARKET CONDITIONS (TIME) ADJUSTMENT  
The Birmingham metro area has experienced positive growth recently, in terms of population and demand/pricing for the 

residential market. The snapshot below illustrates the positive trend for the market as compared to the previous year. 

Source: https://acre.culverhouse.ua.edu/research/residential-research/birmingham/

The information above reflects the residential market for the Birmingham Metro.  

When considering market conditions (time), we have considered local real estate professionals’ opinions. Most 

participants in the area believe that the market has generally improved, with price increases over time. The following 

illustrates opinions from some local professionals in the immediate area about how the market has improved. 

The general consensus amongst most real estate professionals is that a reasonable time adjustment in general is around 

5-10%, with the central tendency around 7%. Most people (real estate professionals or not) generally recognize the market 

has been increasing. 

While an adjustment for time can be somewhat subjective, we believe an upward is necessary for sales. Therefore, we 

considered a 7% annual adjustment to the comparable land sales in our appraisals. We note that the 15% increase in 

demand is for single-family residential properties that include the underlying land and building. Much of the upward 

movement in pricing is due to a shortage of housing stock and a substantial increase in the prices of materials 

(sticks/bricks). Since materials prices have risen in excess of 15%, it only makes sense that the increase in land value has 

been slightly less.  

The annual adjustment for market conditions (time) is calculated by the difference from the sale date (in months) and the 

effective date divided by 12 (months) and multiplied by 7%. The adjustment is rounded up or down as necessary to the 

nearest whole number percentage. 

Page 36

Item #7.



PRESENT USE, ACQUISITION DESCRIPTION, Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-6: (Rev.10/20)

 AND RELOCATION MEETING DETAILS Tract No.: 1

SITE DATA:

(Incl. marketability factors; i.e.-access, frontage, depth, shape, topo, soils, improvements, easements, encroachments, etc.)

The subject site contains 0.74± acres. The property is situated along the east side of Kentwood Drive in Alabaster, AL. 

The subject is legally described as LOT 9, according to the Survey of Kentwood, as recorded in Map Book 16, Page 109 in 

the Probate Office of Shelby County, Alabama. The property is gently sloping and irregular-rectangular in shape. The 

subject has approximately 90’ of frontage along its fronting road, with a depth of around 290’. All utilities (electricity, 

water, gas, telephone and sewer) are available. The utility easement(s) run alongside Kentwood Drive and are not 

deemed to have a negative impact on the development potential or marketability of the subject property. The subject 

lies outside of the floodplain with no apparent wetlands either, with adequate drainage. 

Present use: (Brief description of how the site is presently used to benefit the owner) 

The subject site contains 0.74± acres along Kentwood Drive in Alabaster, AL. The property is currently utilized as a 

residence (single-family home). Since the scope of the assignment is for a partial appraisal, only the land is considered. 

Description of Proposed Acquisition: [Not the legal description of the acquisition.  Explain how it was explained to the 

owner/representative including physical onsite indicators identifying the location of the acquisition (i.e. ROW stakes, linear 

measurement from edge of pavement), state what was shown depicting the acquisition & describe the proposed acquisition 

generally (i.e. state what is being acquired but not as detailed as in the valuation approaches, FA-3 & FA-20 ), along with any noted 

encumbrances (easements, leases, etc.) observed by the appraiser or brought to the attention of the appraiser.]

Based on information we were provided, the proposed acquisition consists of 0.12± acres of land (only) at the rear of the 

subject property. The land appears to be behind the owner’s fence. 

Per our discussion with the property owner (Luke Short) on 7/21/22 around 4:30 pm, Mr. Short does not utilize the portion 

that is being acquired, as it is situated behind his fence. Mr. Short stated that he pays taxes on the land, so he wants to be 

treated fairly (in terms of compensation). 

On-Site Meetings with Relocation Person(s) Are Required When Structures Are Being Acquired* 

Date(s) of Required Meeting(s): NA

Attendees: Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS and Tyler Powell inspected the subject property on 7/28/22. 

Personal Property/Specialty Items: Note those Acquired or Damaged by Proposed Acquisition: (list & identify all 

items of personal property and specialty items such as merchantable timber, crops, minerals, etc. acquired or damaged only.) 

Items of Personal /Specialty Property: 

Item Brief Description Item Owner Acq’d/Damaged

None

Appraiser Comments: There are no personal property items affected; therefore, it was not necessary for a 

relocation specialist to be present during the inspection. 

*Final rule issued on January 4, 2005 (effective 2/3/05) revising title 49 CFR Part 24 [§ 24.103(a)–rule and Appendix A].  The appraiser must now 

identify items in the appraisal report considered to be “real property” as well as those considered to be “personal property.”    

Alabama Code Section 18-1A-3; defines Personal Property as: “Any property other than real property which is affixed or directly related to the real 

property proposed to be acquired.”

It is the intent of the Department for each tract assignment involving structures to be acquired, the appraiser will be required to inform Region/Area 

Relocation personnel of when the on-site inspection for the appraisal is scheduled.   The appropriate Department (Region/Area) relocation staff 

personnel will attend the appraiser’s inspection in order to accommodate this requirement.  If Region/Area Relocation Personnel are unavailable to 

accompany the Appraiser on the inspection, they will provide the Appraiser their determination of any items necessary to be included in this report 

section (in writing) within 5 business days from the appraiser’s date of inspection.  The results of these meetings are to be included in the appraisal 

report(s) and will serve as guides in this area for the balance of the acquisition process.  If needed, legal counsel is to be consulted when there are 

questions as to the status of a given item. 

If Department (Region/Area) personnel determine such required meeting is not necessary; this will be noted in the Tract by Tract Scope of Work section 

(page-2) of the Work Authorization Order when submitted for approval.  

Page 37

Item #7.



HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS Project No. TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-7: (Rev. 10/20)

BEFORE Tract No. 1

Process 

Before a property can be valued, an opinion of highest and best use must be developed for the subject site, both as if 
vacant, and as improved or proposed. By definition, the highest and best use must be: 

 Physically possible. 

 Legally permissible under the zoning regulations and other restrictions that apply to the site. 

 Financially feasible. 

 Maximally productive, i.e., capable of producing the highest value from among the permissible, possible, and 
financially feasible uses. 

As If Vacant 

Physically Possible 

The physical characteristics of the site do not appear to impose any unusual restrictions on development. Overall, the 
physical characteristics of the site and the availability of utilities result in functional utility suitable for a variety of uses.  

Legally Permissible 

The subject is zoned R-3, Single-Family Residential District. Permitted uses include residential type uses including single-
family. 

Financially Feasible 

Based on our analysis of the market, there is currently adequate demand for land in the subject’s area. A residential use 
is considered financially feasible. 

Maximally Productive 

The subject site is 0.74± acres.  

There does not appear to be any reasonably probable use of the site that would generate a higher residual land value 
than for residential use. Accordingly, it is our opinion that a residential use is the maximally productive use of the 
property.  

Conclusion 

Residential use is the only use that meets the four tests of highest and best use. Therefore, it is concluded to be the 
highest and best use of the property as if vacant. 

As Improved 

The scope for this assignment is a partial appraisal, with no consideration to the improvements on site. The highest and 
best use, as improved, is not applicable. 

Most Probable Buyer 

Taking into account the size and characteristics of the site, the likely buyer is an owner/user. 

Page 38

Item #7.



LAND SALES APPROACH Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-8: (Rev. 10/20)

BEFORE Tract No.: 1 

LAND VALUATION  SUBJECT SIZE 0.74 Acres 

COMPARABLE SALES L-1 L-2 L-3 L-4 

Date of Sale 7/18/22 3/11/22 10/28/21 3/12/21

SALE PRICE $70,000 $45,000 $118,500 $25,000

Improvements NA NA NA NA

PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple 
Non-typical Financing Terms Cash to Seller Cash to Seller Cash to Seller Cash to Seller

Special Conditions of Sale Arm’s Length Arm’s Length Arm’s Length Arm’s Length

Market Conditions $0 $1,350 $5,925 $2,500

ADJUSTED SALES PRICE $70,000 $46,350 $124,425 $27,500

Size of Sale (Ac) 1.02 0.63 1.16 0.23 

SALES PRICE PER UNIT $68,627 $73,571 $107,263 $119,565 
Adjustments:               Location -5.0% 5.0% -5.0% 0.0% 

Access 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Topography 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Shape/Utility 0.0% 0.0% 5.0% 0.0% 
Size 5.0% 0.0% 5.0% -10.0% 

Other 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Net Adjustment 0.0% 5.0% 5.0% -10.0% 

ADJUSTED UNIT VALUE $68,627 $77,250 $112,626 $107,609

Explanation of Adjustments 

Conditions of Sale: No conditions of sale adjustments were applied. We considered applying upward 
adjustments to a few comparables where the agents believed the sale prices were 
below market; however, an adjustment for this is rather subjective and not deemed 
necessary. 

Market Conditions: We applied a 7% annual adjustment to each sale for market conditions (time). L-1 
requires no time adjustment; L-2 is adjusted upward 3%; L-3 is adjusted upward 5%; 
L-4 is adjusted upward 10%. 

Location: The subject and all of the comparables are located in Alabaster. The comparables 
utilized are situated in subdivisions with various home prices. We adjusted L-1 
downward for superior location given homes in this subdivision (Maple Ridge) have 
sold in the $649,999-$765,000 range recently. We adjusted L-2 upward accordingly 
for inferior location given homes in this subdivision (Park Forest) have sold in the 
$190,000-$270,000 range recently. We adjusted L-3 downward accordingly for 
superior location given homes in this subdivision (Sterling Gate) have sold in the 
$350,000-$589,999 range. No adjustment was applied to L-4. 

Access: The subject property is situated along Kentwood Drive. All of the comparables have 
similar access along their fronting road. No adjustment for access is deemed 
necessary. 

Topography: No adjustment is applied for topography. 

Shape/Utility: The subject is gently sloping, irregular-rectangular in shape and suited for residential 
purposes. We adjusted L-3 upward accordingly for inferior shape/utility because an 
easement traverses through the property. 

Size: The subject contains 0.74 acres. L-1 is 1.02 acres and was adjusted upward for size. L-
2 is 0.63 acres with no adjustment necessary for size. L-3 is 1.16 acres and adjusted 
upward for size. L-4 is 0.23 acres and adjusted downward for size. 

Other: No other adjustments were deemed necessary.  

Correlation: The adjusted range of the comparables is $68,627 - $112,626 per acre, with an 
average of $91,528 per acre. We conclude near the average as reasonable. 

Before Land Value Conclusion:  @  $90,000 per Ac =$66,600 

Page 39

Item #7.



CORRELATION OF VALUES Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-14 (Rev. 10/20)

BEFORE Tract No.: 1

MARKET APPROACH  (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) $66,600

INCOME APPROACH  (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) NA

COST APPROACH (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) NA

Reconciliation/Remarks: (If an approach is included in the scope, it is to be included in the report, unless a 
change in scope has been approved.  If an approach is at the discretion of the appraiser and is not 
considered applicable, the appraiser shall state why.)
As discussed previously, we determined a value for the land only. The income and cost approaches to 
value are not applicable or utilized.  

BEFORE VALUE CONCLUSION: $66,600

(Complete the following ONLY if there is no remainder; i.e. a Total Taking) 

Value of the Acquisition 

Fair Market Value Before the Acquisition: 

Fair Market Value After the Acquisition:

Fair Market Value of the Acquisition:

Breakdown of Acquisition: 
Land:   

Improvements:   

Specialty Items:   

Additional Comments:  

Page 40

Item #7.



DESCRIPTION & HIGHEST AND BEST USE Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-15: (Rev. 10/20)

AFTER Tract No.: 1 

Note; this is a separate appraisal analysis from the Before; based on the Hypothetical Condition that the project is 

complete and in place.  This is an important concept to remember; the Remainder is to be analyzed based on its 

marketability to a typical buyer, not based on what is taken from the current owner.  A partial taking appraisal is 

not an appraisal of the part taken; it is two appraisals with the difference between two analyses being the 

compensation for the part taken.  Proper methodology is to analyze the After without recognition of what was 

Before and the appraiser then identifies the components of the value difference between the Before and After.  

Description of the Property After the Project: (Physical & Location Characteristics)

The subject site contains 0.62± acres. The property is situated along the east side of Kentwood Drive in Alabaster, AL. 

The subject is legally described as LOT 9, according to the Survey of Kentwood, as recorded in Map Book 16, Page 109 in 

the Probate Office of Shelby County, Alabama. The property is gently sloping and irregular-rectangular in shape. The 

subject has approximately 90’ of frontage along its fronting road, with a depth of around 227.91’. All utilities (electricity, 

water, gas, telephone and sewer) are available. The utility easement(s) run alongside Kentwood Drive and not deemed 

to have a negative impact on the development potential or marketability of the subject property. The subject lies 

outside of the floodplain with no apparent wetlands either, with adequate drainage. 

Highest and Best Use of the Property After the Project:

Process 

Before a property can be valued, an opinion of highest and best use must be developed for the subject site, both as if 
vacant, and as improved or proposed. By definition, the highest and best use must be: 

 Physically possible. 

 Legally permissible under the zoning regulations and other restrictions that apply to the site. 

 Financially feasible. 

 Maximally productive, i.e., capable of producing the highest value from among the permissible, possible, and 
financially feasible uses. 

As If Vacant 

Physically Possible 

The physical characteristics of the site do not appear to impose any unusual restrictions on development. Overall, the 
physical characteristics of the site and the availability of utilities result in functional utility suitable for a variety of uses.  

Legally Permissible 

The subject is zoned R-3, Single-Family Residential District. Permitted uses include residential type uses including single-
family. 

Financially Feasible 

Based on our analysis of the market, there is currently adequate demand for land in the subject’s area. A residential use 
is considered financially feasible. 

Maximally Productive 

The subject site is 0.62± acres.  

There does not appear to be any reasonably probable use of the site that would generate a higher residual land value 
than for residential use. Accordingly, it is our opinion that a residential use is the maximally productive use of the 
property.  

Conclusion 

Residential use is the only use that meets the four tests of highest and best use. Therefore, it is concluded to be the 
highest and best use of the property as if vacant. 

Page 41

Item #7.



As Improved 

The scope for this assignment is a partial appraisal, with no consideration to the improvements on site. The highest and 
best use, as improved, is not applicable. 

Most Probable Buyer 

Taking into account the size and characteristics of the site, the likely buyer is an owner/user. 

Page 42

Item #7.



LAND SALES APPROACH Project Number TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-16: (Rev. 10/20)

AFTER Tract Number 1 

LAND VALUATION  SUBJECT SIZE (0.62 Acres) 

COMPARABLE SALES L-1 L-2 L-3 L-4 

Date of Sale 7/18/22 3/11/22 10/28/21 3/12/21

SALE PRICE $70,000 $45,000 $118,500 $25,000

Improvements NA NA NA NA

PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple 
Non-typical Financing Terms Cash to Seller Cash to Seller Cash to Seller Cash to Seller

Special Conditions of Sale Arm’s Length Arm’s Length Arm’s Length Arm’s Length

Market Conditions $0 $1,350 $5,925 $2,500

ADJUSTED SALES PRICE $70,000 $46,350 $124,425 $27,500

Size of Sale (Ac) 1.02 0.63 1.16 0.23 

SALES PRICE PER UNIT $68,627 $73,571 $107,263 $119,565 
Adjustments:               

Location -5.0% 5.0% -5.0% 0.0% 
Access 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Topography 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Shape/Utility 0.0% 0.0% 5.0% 0.0% 

Size 5.0% 0.0% 5.0% -10.0% 
Other 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Net Adjustment 0.0% 5.0% 5.0% -10.0% 

ADJUSTED UNIT VALUE $68,627 $77,250 $112,626 $107,609

Explanation of Adjustments 

Conditions of Sale: No conditions of sale adjustments were applied. We considered applying upward 
adjustments to a few comparables where the agents believed the sale prices were 
below market; however, an adjustment for this is rather subjective and not deemed 
necessary. 

Market Conditions: We applied a 7% annual adjustment to each sale for market conditions (time). L-1 
requires no time adjustment; L-2 is adjusted upward 3%; L-3 is adjusted upward 5%; 
L-4 is adjusted upward 10%. 

Location: The subject and all of the comparables are located in Alabaster. The comparables 
utilized are situated in subdivisions with various home prices. We adjusted L-1 
downward for superior location given homes in this subdivision (Maple Ridge) have 
sold in the $649,999-$765,000 range recently. We adjusted L-2 upward accordingly 
for inferior location given homes in this subdivision (Park Forest) have sold in the 
$190,000-$270,000 range recently. We adjusted L-3 downward accordingly for 
superior location given homes in this subdivision (Sterling Gate) have sold in the 
$350,000-$589,999 range. No adjustment was applied to L-4. 

Access: The subject property is situated along Kentwood Drive. All of the comparables have 
similar access along their fronting road. No adjustment for access is deemed 
necessary. 

Topography: No adjustment is applied for topography. 

Shape/Utility: The subject is gently sloping, irregular-rectangular in shape and suited for residential 
purposes. We adjusted L-3 upward accordingly for inferior shape/utility because an 
easement traverses through the property. 

Size: The subject contains 0.74 acres. L-1 is 1.02 acres and was adjusted upward for size. L-
2 is 0.63 acres with no adjustment necessary for size. L-3 is 1.16 acres and adjusted 
upward for size. L-4 is 0.23 acres and adjusted downward for size. 

Other: No other adjustments were deemed necessary.  

Correlation: The adjusted range of the comparables is $68,627 - $112,626 per acre, with an 
average of $91,528 per acre. We conclude near the average as reasonable. 

After Land Value Conclusion:  0.62 @  $90,000/Ac =  $55,800

Page 43

Item #7.



CORRELATION OF VALUES Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-20: (Rev. 10/20)

1 of 2After Tract No.:   1 

MARKET APPROACH  (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) $55,800

INCOME APPROACH (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) NA

COST APPROACH (VALUE INDICATION-LAND ONLY) NA

REMARKS/CORRELATION OF VALUE: (If an approach is included in the scope, it is to be included in the report, 
unless improvements are acquired eliminating the need for the approach.)
As discussed previously, we only include a value for the land in the After scenario. The income and cost 
approaches to value are not applicable or utilized.

Preliminary After Value Conclusion: $55,800

Cost-to-Cure Damages; 

NA

Preliminary After Value Conclusion: $55,800

Value of Temporary Easement(s) (When there is a Before and After, Use After Unit Value)

Annual ground rent is multiplied by Present Worth Interest Factor (PWIF for $1ºº)
 For a period of 3 years unless otherwise specified. 

Annual Rent $  PWIF ( yrs.) 
X  =

FINAL VALUE CONCLUSION (Preliminary Less TCE) : $55,800

Page 44

Item #7.



CORRELATION OF VALUES Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-20: (Rev. 10/20)

2 of 2After Tract No.:   1 

Fair Market Value Before the Acquisition: $66,600

Fair Market Value After the Acquisition: $55,800

Fair Market Value For the Acquisition: $10,800

Breakdown of the Acquisition 

Land: 0.12 Acre @ $90,000/Acre $10,800

Permanent Easements:  

Temporary Easements: 

Improvements: 

Specialty Items: 

Damages: 

Less Enhancement: 

EFFECT OF THE ACQUISITION: (Describe all factors impacting on marketability which are considered to be 
attributable to the acquisition)
Based on information we were provided, the proposed acquisition consists of 0.12± acres of land only. No damages are 
evident. 

Page 45

Item #7.



                                   CERTIFICATE OF Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-21: (Rev. 10/20)

REAL PROPERTY APPRAISER Tract No.: 1

State of Alabama County of: Shelby 

I hereby certify: 

  •To the best of my knowledge and belief, the statements of fact contained in this appraisal are true and correct. 

  •The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions, limiting conditions and 

legal instructions; and are my personal, unbiased professional analysis, opinions and conclusions. 

  •I understand my appraisal may be used in connection with the acquisition of right-of-way for a project to be constructed 

by the State of Alabama with the assistance of Federal-aid highway funds or other Federal funds. 

  •The appraisal and the report to which this certification is attached has been prepared in conformity with;   

-the appropriate State laws, regulations, policies and procedures applicable to the appraisal of right-of-way:  

-the appropriate and applicable Federal laws, regulations, policies and procedures including the Uniform Standards for 

Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) (with Jurisdictional Exceptions noted in the Scope of Work Section of the report). 

  • To the best of my knowledge, no portion of the value assigned to the appraised property is for non-compensable items 

under the established law of the State of Alabama: 

  •Neither my employment nor my compensation for this appraisal is in any way contingent on the value(s) reported. 

  •I have no direct or indirect, present or contemplated future personal interest in the property appraised nor in any 

benefit from the partial or whole acquisition of the property appraised. 

  •I have performed no (or the specified) other services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property 

that is the subject of the work under review within the 3-years immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

  •I have not revealed the findings and results of this appraisal to anyone other than the proper officials of the acquiring 

agency of Alabama or officials of the Federal Highway Administration and I will not do so until so authorized by said 

officials; or until I am required to do so by due process of law; or until I am released from this obligation by having publicly 

testified as to such findings. 

  •I have personally inspected the appraised property and that I have also made a personal field inspection of the 

comparable sales relied on in the appraisal of the subject property.  The subject and comparable sales relied on in this 

appraisal are as represented in this report or the master file and/or supplemental report.   

•The owner or the owner’s representative was given the opportunity to accompany me (the signor of this certification) 

during my inspection of the property that is the subject of the appraisal report to which this certification is attached. 

  •Any decrease or increase in the fair market value of the real property occurring prior to the date of valuation and caused 

by the public improvement for which the property is acquired or caused by the likelihood that the property would be 

acquired, other than a decrease due to physical deterioration within reasonable control of the owner, was disregarded in 

determining the compensation for the property acquired. 

  •In compliance with Alabama Code, Sec.34-27A-3 (applicable for State Certified Appraisers): This assignment was made 

subject to regulations of the State of Alabama Real Estate Appraisers Board.  The undersigned state licensed real estate 

appraiser has met the requirements of the board that allow this report to be regarded as a ‘certified appraisal’. 

•Tyler Powell provided significant professional assistance in terms of inspecting, researching/inspecting the comparables 

herein, and report writing. 

•My opinion of the fair market value for the acquisition as of July 28, 2022, is $10,800 based on my independent appraisal 

and the exercise of my professional judgment. 

8/8/22 Signature:

Date Name (Print): Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS
State Certified General Real Property Appraiser

Alabama License Number: G00901

Page 46

Item #7.



Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-22: (Rev. 10/20)

Tract No.: 1

ADDENDA 
Attachments (R=Required): 

R Photographs of Subject, Area To Be Acquired, & Location, Form FA-22A 

R Photographs of Improvements (Exterior & Interior), Form FA-22B 

R Total Property Sketch/Plat, Form FA-22D (*)

 Certified Letter/Mail Receipt 

 Zoning Information 

 Closing Statement(s), Deed(s), Lease(s) 

R Comparable Sales and Maps 

R Subject Location Map(s) 

R Qualifications of Appraiser 

R State Certification License 

 General Assumptions & Limiting Conditions (Note; any areas of conflict with State, and/or 

Federal Regulations/guidelines are notwithstanding and have no force and affect)

*To be furnished by the State 

Page 47

Item #7.



PHOTOGRAPHS OF SUBJECT Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-22A: (Rev. 10/20)

Tract No.:   1 

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: Kentwood Drive-Facing NW

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: Kentwood Drive-Facing SE

Page 48

Item #7.



PHOTOGRAPHS OF SUBJECT Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-22A: (Rev. 10/20)

Tract No.:   1 

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: SFR Exterior-Facing NE

SFR not included in partial appraisal

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: Subject Acquisition View-Facing West

Page 49

Item #7.



PHOTOGRAPHS OF SUBJECT Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-22A: (Rev. 10/20)

Tract No.:   1 

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: Subject Acquisition View-Facing North

Photographer: Tyler Powell Date of Photograph: 7/28/22

Description & Camera Position: Subject Acquisition View-Facing South

Page 50

Item #7.



PROPERTY PLAT Project No. TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-22D (Rev.10/20)

Tract No.   1 

Page 51

Item #7.



Certified Letter(s)/Mail Receipt(s) 

Page 52

Item #7.



Page 53

Item #7.



Zoning Information 

Page 54

Item #7.



Page 55

Item #7.



Closing Statement(s), Deed(s) and-or Lease(s) 

Page 56

Item #7.



Page 57

Item #7.



Page 58

Item #7.



MARKET DATA Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-23A: (Rev. 10/20)

LAND Comparable Location Map L-1, L-2, L-3, L-4 

The chart below summarizes the sales that we have considered for our analysis. 

Sales Summary

Sale No. Address Sale Date Sale $ Size (Ac) $/Ac

L-1 317 Logos Trace, Alabaster, AL 7/18/2022 $70,000 1.02 $68,627

L-2 301 Forest Parkway, Alabaster, AL 3/11/2022 $45,000 0.63 $71,429

L-3 135 Sterling Park Drive, Alabaster, AL 10/28/2021 $118,500 1.16 $102,155

L-4 420 Red Bay Cove, Alabaster, AL 3/12/2021 $25,000 0.23 $108,696

Page 59

Item #7.



MARKET DATA: Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-23: (Rev. 5/20)

LAND Comparable Sale No.: L-1 

Photograph Date:  7/28/22 Photographer:  Tyler Powell

Date of Sale:  7/18/22 Date Inspected:  7/28/22

County:  Shelby County Tax ID Number(s):  23-5-22-0-007-043.000

Location:  317 Logos Trace, Alabaster, AL 35007

Grantor:  Rodger Radeck and Roberta Radeck Grantee:  Anthony Brown and Yoko Brown

Recording Data: Instrument 20220719000284040

Rights Transferred: Fee Simple

Encumbrances:  Not Known
NOTE; VERIFICATION MUST BE WITH A PARTY TO THE TRANSACTION, IINDICATE WHICH BELOW

Sale Consideration:  $70,000 Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale X Closing Atty.

Source Name Listing Agent: Jeff Champion Contact Number 205.296.4561

Conditions of Sale:  Cash to seller Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Financing:  Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Mortgage Amount:  NA Interest Rate/Terms:  NA

Highest and Best Use (Time of Sale):  Residential

Zoning (Time of Sale):  E, Single-Family Estate Residential District

Public/Private Utilities:  Public

Site Improvement Values:  NA

Land Area (SF or Acres):  1.02± Ac Road Frontage:   150’ along Logos Trace

Unit Price (SF, Acres or Front Feet):   $68,627/Acre

Property Description (All known physical & location factors impacting on value & marketability):

This is Lot No. 43 in the Maple Ridge subdivision. The lot is wooded and gently sloping. 

Other Pertinent Information, If Any (Prior sales, subsequent sales, subsequent improvements, project involvement, etc.):

During our inspection, the lot was wooded and site work had not yet begun. The lot was listed for $80,000 and sold for 
$70,000 after 14 days on the market per the MLS. 
Note: Tyler Powell confirmed the sale with Jeff Champion (listing agent-205.296.4561) on 7/28/22 around 10:30 am. Mr. 
Champion stated that the seller was motivated and needed cash rather quickly to put into a home they were purchasing 
in Guntersville. Mr. Champion stated he received multiple calls and other offers and believes that the lot could have sold 
for the asking price of $80,000. The seller also has their home situated next to this lot (currently as of 7/28/22) under 
contract for $765,000. Homes in this subdivision have sold for $649,999-$765,000 over the past few years. This results in 
a lot to home ratio of 9-11% based upon the lot sale price. This is Land/Lot Sale MLS# 1324419.  

Page 60

Item #7.



Aerial 

Page 61

Item #7.



Deed and-or Closing Documents 

Page 62

Item #7.



Page 63

Item #7.



MARKET DATA: Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-23: (Rev. 5/20)

LAND Comparable Sale No.: L-2 

Photograph Date:  7/28/22 Photographer:  Tyler Powell

Date of Sale:  3/11/22 Date Inspected:  7/28/22

County:  Shelby County Tax ID Number(s):  23-8-27-0-000-002.050

Location:  301 Forest Parkway, Alabaster, AL 35007

Grantor:  Ulla R. Tahmaseb Grantee:  Thomas A. Whitten and Jarron C. Whitten

Recording Data: Instrument 20220314000103470

Rights Transferred: Fee Simple

Encumbrances:  Not Known
NOTE; VERIFICATION MUST BE WITH A PARTY TO THE TRANSACTION, IINDICATE WHICH BELOW

Sale Consideration:  $45,000 Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale X Closing Atty.

Source Name Selling Agent: Chad Holcomb Contact Number 205.601.7664

Conditions of Sale:  Cash to seller Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Financing:  Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Mortgage Amount:  NA Interest Rate/Terms:  NA

Highest and Best Use (Time of Sale):  Residential

Zoning (Time of Sale):  R-2, Single-Family Residential District

Public/Private Utilities:  Public

Site Improvement Values:  NA

Land Area (SF or Acres):  0.63± Ac Road Frontage:   95’ along Forest Parkway

Unit Price (SF, Acres or Front Feet):   $71,429/Acre

Property Description (All known physical & location factors impacting on value & marketability):

This is Lot No. 81 in the Park Forest subdivision. The lot is wooded and gently sloping. 

Other Pertinent Information, If Any (Prior sales, subsequent sales, subsequent improvements, project involvement, etc.):

During our inspection, the lot was wooded and site work had not yet begun. The lot was originally listed for $50,000, 
reduced to $45,000 and sold for $45,000 after 107 days on the market per the MLS. 
Note: Tyler Powell confirmed the sale with Chad Holcomb (selling agent-205.601.7664) on 7/28/22 around 11:30 am. 
Homes in this subdivision have sold for around $190,000-$270,000 over the past few years. This results in a lot to home 
ratio of 17-24% based upon the lot sale price. This is Land/Lot Sale MLS# 1304481.  

Page 64

Item #7.



Aerial 

Page 65

Item #7.



Deed and-or Closing Documents 

Page 66

Item #7.



Page 67

Item #7.



Page 68

Item #7.



MARKET DATA: Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-23: (Rev. 5/20)

LAND Comparable Sale No.: L-3 

Photograph Date:  7/28/22 Photographer:  Tyler Powell

Date of Sale:  10/28/21 Date Inspected:  7/28/22

County:  Shelby County Tax ID Number(s):  23-2-10-2-002-001.000

Location:  135 Sterling Park Drive, Alabaster, AL 35007

Grantor:  Gilbert E. Gray Grantee:  Tommy Black and Melissa Black

Recording Data: Instrument 20211101000527090

Rights Transferred: Fee Simple

Encumbrances:  Not Known
NOTE; VERIFICATION MUST BE WITH A PARTY TO THE TRANSACTION, IINDICATE WHICH BELOW

Sale Consideration:  $118,500 Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale X Closing Atty.

Source Name Listing Agent: Tim Mitchell Contact Number 205.305.8756

Conditions of Sale:  Cash to seller Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Financing:  Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Mortgage Amount:  NA Interest Rate/Terms:  NA

Highest and Best Use (Time of Sale):  Residential

Zoning (Time of Sale):  R-3, Single-Family Residential District

Public/Private Utilities:  Public

Site Improvement Values:  NA

Land Area (SF or Acres):  1.16± Ac Road Frontage:   303’ along Sterling Park Drive

Unit Price (SF, Acres or Front Feet):   $102,155/Acre

Property Description (All known physical & location factors impacting on value & marketability):

This is Lot No. 95 in the Sterling Gate subdivision. The lot was wooded and level to gently sloping at the time of sale. An 
easement appears to traverse through the middle of the lot, which would likely affect the configuration of a home. 

Other Pertinent Information, If Any (Prior sales, subsequent sales, subsequent improvements, project involvement, etc.):

During our inspection, some site work appeared to have begun (some clearing/possibly light grading). The lot was listed 
for $124,900 and sold for $118,500 after 136 days on the market per the MLS. 
Note: Tyler Powell confirmed the sale with Tim Mitchell (listing agent-205.305.8756) on 7/28/22 around 11:30 am. 
Homes in this subdivision have sold for around $350,000-$590,000 over the past few years. This results in a lot to home 
ratio of 20-34% based upon the lot sale price. This is Land/Lot Sale MLS# 1286646.  

Page 69

Item #7.



Aerial 

Page 70

Item #7.



Deed and-or Closing Documents 

Page 71

Item #7.



MARKET DATA: Project No.: TAPBH-TA22(939) FA-23: (Rev. 5/20)

LAND Comparable Sale No.: L-4 

Photograph Date:  7/28/22 Photographer:  Tyler Powell

Date of Sale:  10/29/21 Date Inspected:  7/28/22

County:  Shelby County Tax ID Number(s):  23-2-09-0-009-033.000

Location:  420 Red Bay Cove, Alabaster, AL 35114

Grantor:  IRA Innovations LLC (see deed) Grantee:  Southern Capital Managers, LLC

Recording Data: Instrument 20210325000149810

Rights Transferred: Fee Simple

Encumbrances:  Not Known
NOTE; VERIFICATION MUST BE WITH A PARTY TO THE TRANSACTION, IINDICATE WHICH BELOW

Sale Consideration:  $25,000 Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale X Closing Atty.

Source Name Selling Agent: Tim Mitchell Contact Number 205.305.8756

Conditions of Sale:  Cash to seller Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Financing:  Grantor Grantee Broker of Sale Closing Atty.

Source Name Same Contact Number

Mortgage Amount:  NA Interest Rate/Terms:  NA

Highest and Best Use (Time of Sale):  Residential

Zoning (Time of Sale):  R-3, Single-Family Residential District

Public/Private Utilities:  Public

Site Improvement Values:  NA

Land Area (SF or Acres):  0.23± Ac Road Frontage:   87’ along Red Bay Cove

Unit Price (SF, Acres or Front Feet):   $108,696/Acre

Property Description (All known physical & location factors impacting on value & marketability):

This is Lot No. 33 in the Lake Forest subdivision. The lot was cleared and generally level at the time of sale. 

Other Pertinent Information, If Any (Prior sales, subsequent sales, subsequent improvements, project involvement, etc.):

A single-family residence has been constructed on site The lot was listed for $25,000 and sold for $25,000 after 3 days 
on the market per the MLS. 
Note: Tyler Powell confirmed the sale with Tim Mitchell (selling agent-205.305.8756) on 7/28/22 around 11:30 am. The 
home that was constructed on site sold for $424,900, which results in a lot to home ratio of 6% based upon the lot sale 
price. Mr. Mitchell believes the lot could have sold closer to $35,000-$45,000. This is Land/Lot Sale MLS# 1277597.  

Page 72

Item #7.



Aerial 

Page 73

Item #7.



Deed and-or Closing Documents 

Page 74

Item #7.



Page 75

Item #7.



Subject Map(s) 

Aerial 

Google Earth 

Page 76

Item #7.



Wetlands Map 

Page 77

Item #7.



Flood Map 

Page 78

Item #7.



Qualifications 

Page 79

Item #7.



License 

Page 80

Item #7.



General Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions

1. We have relied upon information provided by the client for the land area (before the taking, area to be acquired, and 

after the taking) of each subject tract. We reserve the right to amend our value conclusion(s) if this is found to be 

incorrect.

2. We were not provided construction plans or drawings for specifics to the planned project. For purposes of this 

anaylsis, we have assumed that the subject tracts will  not be denied access or have singificant access changes. We 

reserve the right to amend our value conclusion(s) if this is found to be incorrect.

1. In accordance with 49 CFR-§24.103(b); the appraiser, in developing the fair market value of a property before a 

proposed acquisition, is instructed to disregard any decrease or increase in the market value of the real property 

caused by the project for which the property is to be acquired, or by the l ikelihood that the property would be 

acquired for the project, other than that due to physical deterioration within the reasonable control of the owner.  

Additionally, the appraiser is instructed to value any remainder property as if the planned project is complete as of 

the effective date of appraisal.  These instructions are legal requirements which can be construed to create 

hypothetical conditions as defined in USPAP Standards Rule 1-2(g) and are noted herein in accordance with USPAP 

Standards Rule 2-2(a)(xi).  

The value conclusions are based on the following hypothetical conditions that may affect the assignment results. A 

hypothetical condition is a condition contrary to known fact on the effective date of the appraisal but is supposed for the 

purpose of analysis.

The value conclusions are subject to the following extraordinary assumptions that may affect the assignment results. An 

extraordinary assumption is uncertain information accepted as fact. If the assumption is found to be false as of the 

effective date of the appraisal, we reserve the right to modify our value conclusions.

Page 81

Item #7.



Form A-9                       

Rev. 3/16

Memorandum

To:

From: T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS

Date: 8/10/2022

Re: Project No: TAPBH-TA22(939)

CPMS #: N/A

Tract No: 1

I have completed a review of the submitted appraisal on the above-referenced tract by Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS

The appraiser valued the acquisition at $10,800 In my opinion the appraisal report conclusions

 are credible for client/ALDOT’s basis for an offer to be used in the negotiation 

process in the amount of $10,800 consisting of:

Land Acquired 0.12 acres@  $ $90,000.00 /acre 10,800$                      

All Structures Acquired -$                            

All Site Improvements that contribute value -$                            

Any Damages (Or Enhancements) -$                            

Easements Temporary No Permanent No -$                            

TOTAL 10,800$                      

8/10/2022

T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS Date

Review Appraiser

cc:

All documentation and support for my recommendation is set forth on the appraisal review forms and/or memo to file 

attached to the appraisal report package.  I submit this recommendation for your approval. 

The acquisition is a rear triangular parcel that is wood but no landscaping. The acquisition is outside of the rear fenced 
yard. The appraisal problem to value the rear land portion to be acquired as a part of the whole. The property owner is 
not currently using the acquisition area and the remaining depth after the acquisition is larger than the typical for the 
area. 

The appraiser determined the acquisition will not damage the remaining property which is reasonable in this instance.

The appraisal report is credible and in compliance with the applicable regulatory requirements. 

Mr. Fred Hawkins, P.E.
Director of Engineering
City of Alabaster
1953 Municipal Way
Alabaster, Alabama 35007

Page 82

Item #7.



           APPRAISAL REVIEW CHECKLIST & CERTIFICATION
Project: Alabaster Park Trail County: Jefferson Appraiser: Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS

Tract No: 1 Form Report Type: Complete  Partial Value Finding

Yes  No Yes   No

4. Rights Appraised * 26. Description of Remainder

5. Definition of Market Value * 27. Remainder H&B Use Analysis

7. Inspection Data 29. Other Relevant After Approaches to Value

8. Tax Data 30. Explain/Support Damages, etc. Not Applicable

9. Zoning 31. Correlation of After Value, TCE, Breakdown, Effect of Acquisition

10. Utilities Available

12. Present Use-Photos of all Improvements

13. H&B Use Analysis (Before)

14. Description of Acquisition

15. County, City & Neighborhood 

Data 

21. Location of Septic System (re: 

taking if applicable) considered                          Sanitary sewer  

Comments: See Letter of Memorandum

I certify:

- On the following date(s) 

Extent of visual inspection of the comparables data: Street

Appraisal Report Identified As: (Indicate One) Not Accepted  (unable to obtain necessary corrections, revisions, or additional data)   

Accepted (meets all requirements, but not selected as recommended or approved)    

Recommended (as basis for establishment of amount believed to be just compensation)

17. Before Land Valuation Percentage or Dollar 

adj. To each sale, discussion of each adjustment, 

Land sales; photos, consideration, recording & 

verification, etc.

18. Improved Market Approach-proper and          

supported adjustments, Sales; photos, 

consideration, recording & verification, etc.

20. Rent Comps. Photographs, rents verification, 

H&B use, zoning, etc.  Sold Rental Comps, photos, 

consideration, recording & verification, etc.

Supplemental information requested

Appraiser License #G00073T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS                               

19. Income Approach – Actual rent, Eco. 

      Rent (mkt. Support), explanation of rent 

      variance, expenses (supported), interest 

      rate, recapture rate, GIM (supported).   

- I have reviewed the appraisal thoroughly for the referenced tract and have accurately represented the contents by this checklist. 

- The comparable sales are similar to the subject and do provide a proper test of the subject’s value.  (If any of the sales are not similar and do 

not provide a proper test, please explain.)  N/A

- During my inspection of the tract, I verified all improvements were identified and photographed in the appraisal, (esp. in the taking). 

- I have verified exterior measurements of the improvement(s) to be acquired/damaged & my calculations of the area of the primary 

improvement(s) are N/A.  (If Multiple improvements, attach additional information for each improvement.)

, I made a visual inspection of this tract and of the applicable comparable sales.  8/10/2022

  22.  Proximity of existing ROW considered

* TO BE FURNISHED TO THE 

APPRAISER 

The appraisal report complies with the definition of 

appraisal in § 24.2(a) (3) in title 49 CFR Part 24.  

Outdoor Signs in ROW considered per appraiser 

instructions

  23. Cost Approach – Description of Imps, photos, floor 

plan, Est. of Eco. Rent, Cost/ Depreciation Support and 

Sources 

AFTER VALUATION

REVIEW AND APPROVAL ACTION

Non-compensable Items

State Obligated

Owner Obligated

Excess Acquisition [Uneconomic Remnant(s)] 

Recommended 

All property listed per appraiser instructions

Clause to enter remainder

Two or more appraisal reports

33. DOT Certificate of Appraiser date of valuation within 20 days of  

Region receipt of report, estimated value of acquisition, signed.

BEFORE VALUATION

16. Site Data-Topography, Landscaping, Septic 

System, ROW Proximity, etc.

1. Letter of Transmittal, Project No., Contact with 

Owner

2. Appraisal Report Summary, Owner, Address, 

Area Acquired*, Breakdown of Acquisition, 

Signature, Valuation Date

24. Dimensional Sketch with onsite Review Verification (Certification 

Below)

 

25. Correlation of Before Value, Unused Approaches Explained

3. Scope of Work - Purpose of Appraisal, Extent property 1) identified & 2) inspected, Type & Extent Data is researched and Type & Extent of 

Analysis Applied.  Specific Scope Details for Assignment which should be the same as the Scope of Work on the Work Authorization shall be 

included in the report.  This is the mutually agreed on content of the appraisal (at a minimum) regarding approaches to value, depth of HBU 

Analysis, etc.

28. After Land Valuation – Percentage of dollar adj. To each sale, 

discussion of each adjustment 

32. Addenda Section – Appraiser qualifications, limiting conditions, tract           

sketch*, structure sketches, comparable sales maps, Sales, etc. 

6. Five-year Sales History, Recording data, 

Consideration, Verification

11. Realty Vs Personalty Meeting:  Date(s), 

Attendees, & Discussion of Results 

ROW FORM LPA-A-6 
3/8/18

Page 83

Item #7.



FORM-LPA 16a (Rev. 3/18) 

LPA APPRAISAL REVIEW REPORT ( SUMMARY OF APPRAISALS )

PROJECT NO.              COUNTY         Jefferson TRACT NO.      1

APPRAISER:        Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS  DATE OF APPRAISAL: 7/28/2022

BEFORE AFTER

AREA (ACRES) 0.74 0.62

ESTIMATED FAIR MARKET VALUE:

LAND (Including, timber, shrubbery, lawns, crops, etc.) 66,600$                 55,800$                    

IMPROVEMENTS (Incl., fence, wells, out buildings, etc.) -$                       -$                          

-$                       -$                          

APPRAISER:        N/A DATE OF APPRAISAL: N/A

BEFORE AFTER

LPA/CONSULTANT REVIEW APPRAISER’S       VALUE OF PROPERTY NEEDED FOR THE PROJECT

BEFORE AFTER

AREA (ACRES) 0.74 0.62

ESTIMATED FAIR MARKET VALUE:

LAND (Including, timber, shrubbery, lawns, crops, etc.) 66,600$                 55,800$                    

IMPROVEMENTS (Incl., fence, wells, out buildings, etc.) -$                       -$                          

-$                       -$                          

JUST COMPENSATION (No obligations for services)

JUST COMPENSATION 

     That my opinion of just compensation for the acquisition as of 7/28/2022 $10,800.00

Appraisal Report By Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS Identified As: Not Accepted  (unable to obtain necessary corrections, revisions, or additional data)   

Accepted (meets all requirements, but not selected as recommended or approved)    

Recommended (as basis for establishment of amount believed to be just compensation)

Appraisal Report By Identified As: Not Accepted  (unable to obtain necessary corrections, revisions, or additional data)   

Accepted (meets all requirements, but not selected as recommended or approved)    

Recommended (as basis for establishment of amount believed to be just compensation)

REVIEW APPRAISER (Signature): DATE OF REVIEW:  

Title:  LPA/Consultant Review Appraiser STATE CERT. NUMBER:  G00073

DATE OF REVIEW:  

DIFFERENCE

LPA RECOMMENDS (Signature): 

10,800$                

N/A

8/10/2022

     based upon my independent appraisal review and the exercise of my professional judgment.  Certification Addendum (See Attached)

-$                      

-$                      

10,800$                

-$                      

0.12

TAPBH-TA22(939)

PROPERTY OWNER:  Luke Short

0.12

DIFFERENCE

DIFFERENCE

-$                      

$10,800

-$                      

10,800$                INDICATED VALUE OF THE ACQUISITION:

-$                      

BREAKDOWN OF ACQUISITION:  Land 0.12/ac X $90,000/ac = $10,800

BREAKDOWN OF ACQUISITION:  Land 0.12/ac X $90,000/ac = $10,800

BASIS OF LPA/CONSULTANT REVIEW APPRAISER’S DETERMINATION OF VALUE: This review is to ensure fair market value has been estimated 
and compensatory items have been considered.  The review includes checking the propriety of methods and techniques and the accuracy of physical and 
math data.  The report complies with USPAP except in areas employing jurisdictional exception or unless otherwise noted.  The data, methods, and 
techniques used, and opinions formed in the appraisal appear relevant, reasonable, and adequately supported unless otherwise noted.  The basis of the 
review (as applicable): appraisal(s), supplements, R.O.W. map, and plans of proposed project.  Any documents or memorandum prepared by the review 
appraiser and attached to this form are to be considered as a part of this review report. REVIEWER COMMENTS (See Attached.)

CERTIFICATE OF LPA/CONSULTANT REVIEW APPRAISER
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:  The above determination of fair market value is made with the unders tanding that it is to be used in 
connection with a Federal aid  transportation project.  I have made a personal inspection of the subject property of the work under review and of the 
comparable sales relied on in estimating the values concluded and shown in this review report.  The facts and data reported by the review appraiser and 
used in the review process are true and correct.  The analyses, opinions, and conclusions in this review report are limited only by the assumptions and 
limiting conditions stated in this review report (or attached), and are my personal, unbiased professional analyses, opinions and conclusions.  I have no (or 
the specified) present or prospective interest or bias in the property that is the subject of the work under review and I have no (or the specified) personal 
interest or bias with respect to the parties involved.  My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined 
results.  My compensation is not contingent on an action or event resulting from the analyses, opinions, or conclusions in th is review or from its use.  My 
analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed and this review report was prepared in conformity with the appraisal requi rements found in 49 CFR 
24.103 (rule and Appendix A) which are intended to be consistent with the Appraisal Foundation’s Uniform Standards of Profess ional Appraisal Practice, 
and support the appraiser’s opinion of value.  This review is based on appraisals with proper consideration given to each encumbrance shown on the right–
of–way map and/or plans.  No one provided significant appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting assistance to the person signing this certification 
(review report); if there are exceptions, the name(s) of individual(s) providing appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting assistance, will be shown 
in the certification addendum.  The value determination does not include any compensable items ineligible for Federal reimbursement. 

Page 84

Item #7.



ALDOT REVIEW APPRAISER’S        DETERMINATION OF JUST COMPENSATION

BEFORE AFTER

AREA (ACRES)

ESTIMATED FAIR MARKET VALUE:

LAND (Including, timber, shrubbery, lawns, crops, etc.)

IMPROVEMENTS (Incl., fence, wells, out buildings, etc.)

COMPENSATION (No obligations for services)

COMPENSATION (            )

BREAKDOWN OF ACQUISITION: 

REVIEWER COMMENTS:  

That my opinion of just compensation for the acquisition as of the

Certification Addendum:  

Appraisal Report By Identified As: Not Accepted  (unable to obtain necessary corrections, revisions, or additional data)   

Accepted  (meets all requirements, but not selected as recommended or approved)    

Recommended (as basis for establishment of amount believed to be just compensation)

Appraisal Report By Identified As: Not Accepted  (unable to obtain necessary corrections, revisions, or additional data)   

Accepted  (meets all requirements, but not selected as recommended or approved)    

Recommended (as basis for establishment of amount believed to be just compensation)

REVIEW APPRAISER (Signature): DATE OF REVIEW:  

Title:  Staff Review Appraiser STATE CERT. NUMBER:  G00073

RECOMMENDED BY (Signature): DATE RECOMMENDED:  

Title: STATE CERT. NUMBER

CERTIFICATE OF ALDOT - REVIEW APPRAISER

0

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:  The above determination of fair market value is made with the understanding that it is to be used in 

connection with a  transportation project.  That I, or a qualified subordinate, made a personal inspection of the subject property of the work under review and of 

the comparable sales relied on in estimating the values concluded and shown in this review report.  The facts and data reported by the review appraiser and 

used in the review process are true and correct.  The analyses, opinions, and conclusions in this review report are limited only by the assumptions and limiting 

conditions stated in this review report (or attached), and are my personal, unbiased professional analyses, opinions and conclusions.  I have no (or the 

specified) present or prospective interest or bias in the property that is the subject of the work under review and I have no (or the specified) personal interest or 

bias with respect to the parties involved.  My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined results.  My 

compensation is not contingent on an action or event resulting from the analyses, opinions, or conclusions in this review or from its use.  My analyses, 

opinions, and conclusions were developed and this review report was prepared in conformity with the appraisal requirements found in 49 CFR 24.103 (rule and 

Appendix A) which are intended to be consistent with the Appraisal Foundation’s Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, and support the 

appraiser’s opinion of value.  This review is based on appraisals with proper consideration given to each encumbrance shown on the right–of–way map and/or 

plans.  No one provided significant appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting assistance to the person signing this certification (review report); if there 

are exceptions, the name(s) of individual(s) providing appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting assistance, will be shown in the certification 

addendum.  The value determination does not include any compensable items ineligible for Federal reimbursement. 

based upon my independent appraisal review and the exercise 

of my professional judgment.

DIFFERENCE

-$                                      

-$                                      

BASIS OF ALDOT REVIEW APPRAISER’S DETERMINATION OF VALUE: This review is to ensure fair market value has been estimated and compensatory 

items have been considered.  The review includes checking the propriety of methods and techniques and the accuracy of physical and math data.  The report 

complies with USPAP except in areas employing jurisdictional exception or unless otherwise noted.  The data, methods, and techniques used, and opinions 

formed in the appraisal appear relevant, reasonable, and adequately supported unless otherwise noted.  The basis of the review (as applicable): appraisal(s), 

supplements, R.O.W. map, and plans of proposed project.  Any memorandum prepared by the review appraiser and attached to the approval letter is to be 

considered as a part of this review report.

Page 85

Item #7.



REVIEWER COMMUNICATION WITH APPRAISER

Date: August 10, 2022

To: Rusty Rich, MAI, MRICS

From: T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS

Consultant Review Appraiser

Re: Project Number TAPBH-TA22(939)

Project Name Alabaster Park Trail

CPMS No. N/A

Tract # 1

I have completed a review of the appraisal report for the above referenced tract and my comments follow:

Thanks for your cooperation in the review process.  If you have any questions contact me accordingly.

T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS

Tillman Consulting, LLC

256-504-5705

mandell@tillmanbiz.com 

NONE REQUIRED

Page 86

Item #7.

mailto:mandell@tillmanbiz.com


Form No. A-13 

Effective: 2-05

CERTIFICATE OF CONSULTANT REVIEW APPRAISER
State of Alabama

County of Project No. TAPBH-TA22(939)

Tract # 1

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

7/28/2022 is $10,800 based upon my independent appraisal review and the exercise of my professional judgment.

Date 8/10/2022

Consultant Review Appraiser Signature

State of Alabama Real Property Appraiser License #G00073

Jefferson

In my opinion the appraisal report and conclusions are credible and the recommended offer for the acquisition as of 

My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed and this review report was prepared in conformity with the 

appraisal and appraisal review requirements found in 49 CFR 24.103 & 29.104 (which are intended to be consistent with 

the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice – USPAP – with Jurisdictional Exceptions).

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with the 

Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute.

The analyses, opinions, and conclusions in this review report are limited only by the assumptions and limiting conditions 

stated in this review report and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions.

In compliance with Alabama Code, Sec. 34-27A-3 (applicable for State Certified Appraisers): This assignment was made 

subject to regulations of the State of Alabama Real Estate Appraisers Board.  The undersigned state licensed real estate 

appraiser has met the requirements of the board that allow this report to be regarded as a “certified appraisal.”

I have performed no other appraisal services as an appraiser or in any other capacity regarding the 

property that is the subject of the work under review, within the three year period immediately 

preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by

 its duly authorized representatives.

I have no (or the specified) present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of the work under review and 

no (or the specified) personal interest with respect to the parties involved.  

I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of the work under review or to the 

parties involved with this assignment.

 My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined results.  

My compensation is not contingent on any action or event resulting from the analyses, opinions, or conclusions in this 

review or from its use. 

The facts and data reported by the reviewer and used in the review process are true and correct. 

I have made a personal inspection of the subject property of the work under review. The inspection consisted of a viewing 

of the subject property from the street or streets on which the subject fronts.

As of the date of this report, T. Mandell Tillman, MAI, AI-GRS, has completed the requirements of the continuing education 

program for Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute.

No one provided significant appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting assistance to the person signing this 

certification.

Page 87

Item #7.



Page 88

Item #7.



Page 89

Item #7.


	Top
	Item #A.	04-24-2023 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting
	04-24-2023 Minutes - Regular City Council Meeting

	Item #B.	05-04-2023 Minutes - Work Session City Council
	05-04-2023 Minutes - Work Session City Council

	Item #C.	National Police Week Proclamation
	Proclamation_National Police Week 2023

	Item #1.	Resolution 050823 Authorizing Addendum to Video Services Agreement - AT&T Alabama to DIRECTV LLC
	Resolution 050823 Authorizing Addendum to Video Services Agreement - AT&T Alabama to DIRECTV LLC

	Item #2.	Resolution 050823-A Creating Field Training Officer Pay Program for the Alabaster Police Department
	Resolution 050823-A Creating Field Training Officer Pay Program for the Alabaster Police Department

	Item #3.	Resolution 050823-B MWPP Annual Report
	Resolution 050823-B MWPP Annual Report

	Item #4.	Resolution 050823-C Authorizing Professional Services Contract with Engineers of the South - Sand Filters Upgrade WWTP
	Resolution 050823-C Authorizing Agreement with Engineers of the South - Filtration Improvements WWTP

	Item #5.	Resolution 050823-D Authorizing Agreement with InSite Engineering LLC - Main WWTP Influent Screen Replacement and Grit System Update
	Resolution 050823-D Authorizing Agreement with InSite Engineering LLC - Main WWTP Influent Screen Replacement and Grit System Update

	Item #6.	Resolution 050823-E Authorizing Purchase of Police Department Vehicle Purchase
	Resolution 050823-E Authorizing Purchase of Police Department Vehicle Purchase

	Item #7.	Resolution 050823-F Authorize Property Acquisition for Trail to Thompson High School
	Resolution 050823-F Authorize Property Acquisition for Trail to Thompson High School
	Appraisal 1 - Residential Land, Alabaster, AL
	ALDOT Review MASTER 080822 REV. 5
	ALDOT Alabaster Thompson Trail TAP ROW letter 4.13.23
	Row for Thompson Trail 5.8.23

	Bottom

